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UNITED STATES  

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  
Washington, D.C. 20549  

   

   

FORM 8-K  
   

CURRENT REPORT  
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the  

Securities Exchange Act of 1934  
   

Date of report (Date of earliest event reported): May 24, 2011  
   

   

Aon Corporation  
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Charter)  

   

   

   
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (312) 381-1000  

   
Not Applicable  

(Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)  
   

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of 
the following provisions ( see General Instruction A.2. below):  
   
�             Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)  
   
�             Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)  
   
�             Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))  
   
�             Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))  
   
   
   

 

Delaware  
   1-7933  

   36-3051915  
(State or Other Jurisdiction  

of Incorporation)  
   

(Commission File Number)  
   

(IRS Employer  
Identification No.)  

200 East Randolph Street, Chicago, Illinois  
   60601  

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)  
   (Zip Code)  



   
Item 8.01.                                           Other Events.  
   

Aon Corporation (“Aon”) is filing this Current Report on Form 8-K for the purpose of incorporating certain audited consolidated 
financial statements of Hewitt Associates, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Hewitt”) and related unaudited pro forma financial information, in each case 
as described in Item 9.01 below, into its Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-159841), which was filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on June 8, 2009. Aon completed its acquisition of Hewitt on October 1, 2010.  
   
Item 9.01.                                           Financial Statements and Exhibits.  
   
(a)  Financial Statements of Business Acquired  
   

The audited consolidated financial statements of Hewitt as of September 30, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three years in the period 
ended September 30, 2010 are included in Exhibit 99.1 attached to this Current Report on Form 8-K and are incorporated herein by reference.  

   
(b)  Pro Forma Financial Information  
   

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of operations of Hewitt and Aon for the year ended December 31, 2010 is included in 
Exhibit 99.2 attached to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.  

   
(d)  Exhibits  
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Exhibit No.  
   Description  

23.1  
   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP  

         
         
99.1  

   
Audited consolidated financial statements of Hewitt as of September 30, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three years in the 
period ended September 30, 2010  

         
99.2  

   Unaudited pro forma combined statement of operations of Aon and Hewitt for the year ended December 31, 2010  



   
SIGNATURES  

   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by 

the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.  
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Aon Corporation  

      
   

By:  /s/ Ram Padmanabhan  
      

Ram Padmanabhan  
      

Vice President and Chief Counsel — Corporate  
      
Date: May 24, 2011  

   



   
EXHIBIT INDEX  
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23.1  
   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP  

         
         
99.1  

   
Audited consolidated financial statements of Hewitt as of September 30, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three years in the period 
ended September 30, 2010  

         
99.2  

   Unaudited pro forma combined statement of operations of Aon and Hewitt for the year ended December 31, 2010  



Exhibit 23.1 
   

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
   

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:  
   

   
of Aon Corporation of our report dated May 11, 2011, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Hewitt Associates, Inc. for the 
year ended September 30, 2010, in the Current Report on Form 8-K of Aon Corporation dated May 24, 2011, and to the reference to our firm 
under the heading “Experts” in any prospectus supplement to the prospectus dated June 8, 2009 included in the Registration Statement on 
Form S-3 (No. 333-159841) of Aon Corporation.  

   

   

Form  
   Number  

   Purpose  
S-8  

   33-27984  
   Pertaining to Aon’s savings plan  

S-8  
   33-42575  

   Pertaining to Aon’s stock award plan and stock option plan  
S-8  

   33-59037  
   Pertaining to Aon’s stock award plan and stock option plan  

S-8  
   333-55773  

   Pertaining to Aon’s stock award plan, stock option plan, and employee stock purchase plan  
S-8  

   333-103344  
   Pertaining to registration of common stock  

S-8  
   333-106584  

   Pertaining to Aon’s deferred compensation plan  
S-8  

   333-145928  
   Pertaining to registration of common stock  

S-8  
   

333-145930  
   

Pertaining to the registration of common stock underlying equity securities issued to Aon’s president and chief 
executive officer  

S-3  
   

333-159841  
   

Pertaining to the registration of debt securities, preferred stock, common stock, convertible securities, share 
purchase contracts, share purchase units and guarantees  

   
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

   
 Ernst & Young LLP  

      
Chicago, Illinois  

   

May 24, 2011  
   



Exhibit 99.1 
   

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
   
Hewitt Associates, Inc.  
Years Ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008  
With Report of Independent Auditors  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  

   
To the Board of Directors and Stockholder of Hewitt Associates, Inc.:  
   
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hewitt Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of 
September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended September 30, 2010.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  
   
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.  Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  We were not 
engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control 
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 
also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Hewitt 
Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries at September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended September 30, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  
   
As disclosed in Note 3 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, effective October 1, 2009, the Company adopted ASU No. 2009-13, 
Revenue Recognition — Multiple Deliverable Arrangements ( “ASU 2009-13” ), SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations (codified in FASB 
ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations), FSP FAS 132(R)-1, Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets (codified in 
FASB ASC 715-20, Compensation - Retirement Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans —General) , and, effective January 1, 2010, the Company 
adopted ASU No. 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures .  
   

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP 
  

May 11, 2011  
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HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(In thousands except for share and per share amounts)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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      September 30,  
   September 30,  

   
      2010  

   2009  
   

                
ASSETS  

             
                
Current Assets:  

             
Cash and cash equivalents  

   $ 532,727 
   $ 581,642 

   
Short-term investments  

   38,140 
   60,994 

   
Client receivables and unbilled work in process, less allowances of $14,800 and $14,381 at 

September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively  
   591,003 

   527,272 
   

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  
   123,672 

   169,533 
   

Funds held for clients  
   160,501 

   131,801 
   

Short-term deferred contract costs, net  
   93,005 

   89,919 
   

Deferred income taxes, net  
   20,130 

   34,119 
   

Total current assets  
   1,559,178 

   1,595,280 
   

                
Non-Current Assets:  

             
Deferred contract costs, less current portion  

   236,107 
   254,905 

   
Property and equipment, net  

   404,222 
   384,254 

   
Other intangible assets, net  

   191,074 
   191,479 

   
Goodwill  

   406,113 
   412,745 

   
Long-term investments  

   44,240 
   54,442 

   
Other non-current assets, net  

   22,723 
   31,535 

   
Total non-current assets  

   1,304,479 
   1,329,360 

   
                
Total Assets  

   $ 2,863,657 
   $ 2,924,640 

   
                

LIABILITIES  
             

                
Current Liabilities:  

             
Accounts payable  

   $ 21,632 
   $ 20,790 

   
Accrued expenses  

   190,859 
   164,724 

   
Funds held for clients  

   160,501 
   131,801 

   
Advanced billings to clients  

   151,266 
   137,447 

   
Accrued compensation and benefits  

   432,316 
   393,463 

   
Short-term deferred contract revenues, net  

   57,268 
   61,356 

   
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations  

   32,273 
   36,282 

   
Total current liabilities  

   1,046,115 
   945,863 

   
                
Non-Current Liabilities:  

             
Deferred contract revenues, less current portion  

   166,492 
   192,056 

   
Debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion  

   299,971 
   618,561 

   
Other non-current liabilities  

   210,346 
   223,835 

   
Deferred income taxes, net  

   49,478 
   84,023 

   
Total non-current liabilities  

   726,287 
   1,118,475 

   
                
Total Liabilities  

   $ 1,772,402 
   $ 2,064,338 

   



   
HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS - Continued  
(In thousands except for share and per share amounts)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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      September 30,  
   September 30,  

   
      2010  

   2009  
   

                
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

             
                
Stockholders’  Equity:  

             
Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 750,000,000 shares authorized, 137,524,146 and 

132,844,269 issued, 94,255,811 and 93,535,270 shares outstanding, as of September 30, 2010 and 
2009, respectively  

   $ 1,375 
   $ 1,328 

   
Additional paid-in capital  

   1,827,096 
   1,662,687 

   
Cost of common stock in treasury, 43,268,335 and 39,308,999 shares of Class A common stock as 

September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively  
   (1,434,940 )  (1,277,815 )  

Retained earnings  
   701,377 

   469,777 
   

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net  
   (3,653 )  4,325 

   
Total stockholders’  equity  

   1,091,255 
   860,302 

   
                
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity  

   $ 2,863,657 
   $ 2,924,640 

   



   
HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(In thousands except for share and per share amounts)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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      Year Ended September 30,  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Revenues:  
                  

Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues)  
   $ 3,040,659 

   $ 3,003,766 
   $ 3,151,389 

   
Reimbursements  

   73,773 
   69,794 

   76,259 
   

Total revenues  
   3,114,432 

   3,073,560 
   3,227,648 

   
                     
Operating expenses:  

                  
Compensation and related expenses  

   1,895,482 
   1,875,401 

   2,042,623 
   

Goodwill and asset impairment  
   21,597 

   4,159 
   4,117 

   
Reimbursable expenses  

   73,773 
   69,794 

   76,259 
   

Other operating expenses  
   547,477 

   558,075 
   624,989 

   
Selling, general, and administrative expenses  

   157,889 
   141,361 

   202,483 
   

Loss (gain) on sale of businesses  
   282 

   (9,379 )  (35,667 ) 
Total operating expenses  

   2,696,500 
   2,639,411 

   2,914,804 
   

                     
Operating income  

   417,932 
   434,149 

   312,844 
   

                     
Other (expense) income, net:  

                  
Interest expense  

   (52,260 )  (39,979 )  (24,788 ) 
Interest income  

   6,811 
   7,410 

   22,023 
   

Other income, net  
   (15,332 )  8,140 

   6,365 
   

Total other (expense) income, net  
   (60,781 )  (24,429 )  3,600 

   
                     
Income before income taxes  

   357,151 
   409,720 

   316,444 
   

                     
Provision for income taxes  

   125,551 
   144,595 

   128,302 
   

                     
Net income  

   $ 231,600 
   $ 265,125 

   $ 188,142 
   

                     
Earnings per share:  

                  
Basic  

   $ 2.49 
   $ 2.84 

   $ 1.90 
   

Diluted  
   $ 2.43 

   $ 2.78 
   $ 1.85 

   
                     
Weighted-average shares:  

                  
Basic  

   93,170,808 
   93,400,271 

   98,791,739 
   

Diluted  
   95,470,599 

   95,390,026 
   101,970,321 

   



   
HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
 (In thousands except for share and per share amounts)  

   

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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                                          Accumulated  
         

      Class A  
   Additional  

                     Other  
         

      Common Shares  
   Paid-in  

   Treasury Stock, at Cost  
   Retained  

   Comprehensive  
         

      Shares  
   Amount  

   Capital  
   Shares  

   Amount  
   Earnings  

   Income  
   Total  

   
                                              
Balance at September 30, 2007  

   127,672,253 
   $  1,277 

   $  1,472,409 
   20,545,944 

   $  (597,200 )  $  38,144 
   $  123,382 

   $  1,038,012 
   

                                              
Comprehensive income:  

                                           
Net income  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   188,142 

   —
   188,142 

   
Other comprehensive loss:  

                                           
Unrealized losses on investments, net of 

tax  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   (4,273 )  (4,273 )  

Retirement Plans, net of tax  
                                 (23,834 )  (23,834 )  

Unrealized losses on hedging 
transactions, net of tax  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   (6,412 )  (6,412 )  
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments, net of tax  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   (42,173 )  (42,173 )  

Total other comprehensive loss  
                                 (76,692 )  (76,692 )  

Total comprehensive income  
                                      111,450 

   
Share-based compensation  

   —
   —

   48,345 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   48,345 

   
Excess tax benefits from stock plans, net  

   —
   —

   14,744 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   14,744 

   
Restricted stock unit vesting  

   938,872 
   9 

   (9 )  —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   

Purchase of Class A common shares for 
treasury  

   —
   —

   —
   15,617,816 

   (586,227 )  —
   —

   (586,227 )  
Issuance of Class A common shares:  

                                           
Employee stock options  

   1,847,653 
   18 

   43,588 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   43,606 

   
Net forfeiture of restricted common stock 

pursuant to the global stock plan  
   (67,898 )  —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   
Adoption of certain provisions of ASC 740-10  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   (7,036 )  —

   (7,036 )  
Adoption of ASC 710-10-25-4 (net of tax)  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   (12,692 )  —

   (12,692 )  
Balance at September 30, 2008  

   130,390,880 
   $  1,304 

   $  1,579,077 
   36,163,760 

   $  (1,183,427 )  $  206,558 
   $  46,690 

   $  650,202 
   

                                          Accumulated  
         

      Class A  
   Additional  

                     Other  
         

      Common Shares  
   Paid-in  

   Treasury Stock, at Cost  
   Retained  

   Comprehensive  
         

      Shares  
   Amount  

   Capital  
   Shares  

   Amount  
   Earnings  

   Income  
   Total  

   
                                              
Balance at September 30, 2008  

   130,390,880 
   $  1,304 

   $  1,579,077 
   36,163,760 

   $  (1,183,427 )  $  206,558 
   $  46,690 

   $  650,202 
   

                                              
Comprehensive income:  

                                           
Net income  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   265,125 

   —
   265,125 

   
Other comprehensive loss:  

                                           
Unrealized gains on investments, net of 

tax  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   1,438 

   1,438 
   

Retirement Plans, net of tax  
                                 (10,732 )  (10,732 )  

Unrealized gains on hedging 
transactions, net of tax  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   4,189 
   4,189 

   
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments, net of tax  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   (37,448 )  (37,448 )  

Total other comprehensive loss  
                                 (42,553 )  (42,553 )  

Total comprehensive income  
                                      222,572 

   
Share-based compensation  

   —
   —

   54,329 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   54,329 

   
Excess tax benefits from stock plans, net  

   —
   —

   9,253 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   9,253 

   
Restricted stock unit vesting  

   1,613,745 
   16 

   (16 )  —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   

Purchase of Class A common shares for 
treasury  

   —
   —

   —
   3,145,239 

   (94,388 )  —
   —

   (94,388 )  
Issuance of Class A common shares:  

                                           
Employee stock options  

   866,871 
   9 

   20,043 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   20,052 

   
Net forfeiture of restricted common stock 

pursuant to the global stock plan  
   (27,227 )  (1 )  1 

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   

Adoption of ASC 715-30 measurement date 
provision (net of tax)  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   (1,906 )  188 

   (1,718 )  
Balance at September 30, 2009  

   132,844,269 
   $  1,328 

   $  1,662,687 
   39,308,999 

   $  (1,277,815 )  $  469,777 
   $  4,325 

   $  860,302 
   



   
HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY - C ontinued  
 (In thousands except for share and per share amounts)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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                                          Accumulated  
         

      Class A  
   Additional  

                     Other  
         

      Common Shares  
   Paid-in  

   Treasury Stock, at Cost  
   Retained  

   Comprehensive  
         

      Shares  
   Amount  

   Capital  
   Shares  

   Amount  
   Earnings  

   Income  
   Total  

   
                                              
Balance at September 30, 2009  

   132,844,269 
   $  1,328 

   $  1,662,687 
   39,308,999 

   $  (1,277,815 )  $  469,777 
   $  4,325 

   $  860,302 
   

                                              
Comprehensive income:  

                                           
Net income  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   231,600 

   —
   231,600 

   
Other comprehensive loss:  

                                           
Unrealized gains on investments, net of 

tax  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   1,391 

   1,391 
   

Retirement Plans, net of tax  
                                 (15,191 )  (15,191 )  

Net unrealized gains on hedging 
transactions, net of tax  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   4,597 
   4,597 

   
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments, net of tax  
   —

   —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   1,225 

   1,225 
   

Total other comprehensive loss  
                                 (7,978 )  (7,978 )  

Total comprehensive income  
                                      223,622 

   
Share-based compensation  

   —
   —

   56,588 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   56,588 

   
Excess tax benefits from stock plans, net  

   —
   —

   30,728 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   30,728 

   
Restricted stock unit vesting  

   1,577,850 
   16 

   (16 )  —
   —

   —
   —

   —
   

Purchase of Class A common shares for 
treasury  

   —
   —

   —
   3,959,336 

   (157,125 )  —
   —

   (157,125 )  
Issuance of Class A common shares:  

                                           
Employee stock options  

   3,102,027 
   31 

   77,109 
   —

   —
   —

   —
   77,140 

   
Balance at September 30, 2010  

   137,524,146 
   $  1,375 

   $  1,827,096 
   43,268,335 

   $  (1,434,940 )  $  701,377 
   $  (3,653 )  $  1,091,255 

   



   
HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
(Amounts in thousands)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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      Year Ended September 30,  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Cash flows from operating activities:  
                  

Net income  
   $ 231,600 

   $ 265,125 
   $ 188,142 

   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  

                  
Depreciation and amortization, including amortization of deferred contract 

revenues and costs  
   172,942 

   164,693 
   174,767 

   
Share-based compensation  

   56,588 
   54,329 

   48,345 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   8,277 

   17,332 
   6,976 

   
Goodwill and asset impairment  

   21,597 
   4,159 

   4,117 
   

Loss (gain) on sale of businesses  
   282 

   (9,379 )  (35,667 )  
Fair value adjustment related to financial assets  

   379 
   18 

   —
   

Gain on sale of investments  
   —

   —
   (2,581 )  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions and 
dispositions:  

                  
Client receivables and unbilled work in process  

   (58,075 )  102,982 
   (34,271 )  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  
   53,646 

   (35,441 )  (51,155 )  
Deferred contract costs  

   (79,023 )  (92,393 )  (102,214 )  
Other assets  

   16,496 
   2,600 

   (22,646 )  
Accounts payable  

   287 
   5,219 

   (4,962 )  
Accrued compensation and benefits  

   36,130 
   (1,899 )  34,787 

   
Accrued expenses  

   (4,294 )  (56,422 )  22,518 
   

Advanced billings to clients  
   14,203 

   (11,478 )  (1,515 )  
Deferred contract revenues  

   27,608 
   44,607 

   96,077 
   

Other long-term liabilities  
   (21,264 )  (21,054 )  7,184 

   
Net cash provided by operating activities  

   477,379 
   432,998 

   327,902 
   

                     
Cash flows from investing activities:  

                  
Purchases of investments  

   (57,146 )  —
   (426,675 )  

Proceeds from sales of investments  
   100,161 

   5,300 
   513,064 

   
Additions to property and equipment  

   (118,551 )  (127,907 )  (117,556 )  
Cash paid for acquisitions and transaction costs, net of cash acquired  

   (60,315 )  (61,764 )  (134,081 )  
Cash received for sale of businesses  

   —
   1,105 

   42,420 
   

Other investing activities  
   (10,885 )  —

   —
   

Net cash used in investing activities  
   (146,736 )  (183,266 )  (122,828 )  

                     
Cash flows from financing activities:  

                  
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options  

   77,140 
   20,052 

   43,606 
   

Excess tax benefits from the exercise of share-based awards  
   20,411 

   7,002 
   10,227 

   
Proceeds from short-term borrowings  

   56 
   18,119 

   185,468 
   

Proceeds from long-term borrowings  
   —

   —
   539,751 

   
Repayments of short-term borrowings, capital leases, and long-term debt  

   (321,936 )  (153,062 )  (225,977 )  
Purchase of Class A common shares for treasury  

   (157,125 )  (94,388 )  (586,227 )  
Net cash used in financing activities  

   (381,454 )  (202,277 )  (33,152 )  
                     
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  

   1,896 
   (7,307 )  (9,171 )  

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  
   (48,915 )  40,148 

   162,751 
   

                     
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  

   581,642 
   541,494 

   378,743 
   

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  
   $ 532,727 

   $ 581,642 
   $ 541,494 

   



   
HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008  

   
1.               Description of Business  
   
Hewitt Associates, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries (“Hewitt” or the “Company”) provide global human resources benefits, 
outsourcing and consulting services.  Benefits Outsourcing includes administrative services for health and welfare, defined contribution and 
defined benefit plans, and absence management, in addition to other stand-alone HR outsourcing services.  Human Resource Business Process 
Outsourcing (“HR BPO”) includes workforce administration, rewards management, recruiting and staffing, payroll processing, performance 
management, learning and development, talent management, time and attendance, procurement expertise, and vendor management.   Hewitt’s 
Consulting business provides a wide array of consulting and actuarial services covering the design, implementation, communication, and 
operation of health and welfare, compensation and retirement plans, and broader human resources programs and processes, in addition to 
investment consulting services.  
   
2.               Subsequent Event  
   
On October 1, 2010, Hewitt and Aon Corporation (“Aon”) completed the previously announced merger of the Company with and into a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Aon pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 11, 2010 (the “Merger Agreement”), among Aon, Alps 
Merger Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Aon (“Merger Sub”), Alps Merger LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Aon (“Merger LLC”), and the Company.  Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, (i) Merger 
Sub merged with and into the Company (the “Merger”), with the Company continuing as the surviving corporation and a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Aon (the “Surviving Corporation”), and (ii) immediately following the completion of the Merger, the Surviving Corporation 
merged with and into Merger LLC (the “Subsequent Merger”), with Merger LLC continuing as the surviving entity and a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Aon (the “Surviving Company”).  The Merger became effective on October 1, 2010, at 4:01 p.m. Eastern time (the “Effective 
Time”).  Upon completion of the Subsequent Merger, the Surviving Company changed its name to Aon Hewitt LLC.  
   
At the Effective Time, each share of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Hewitt Common Stock”), issued and 
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than shares of Hewitt Common Stock held of record by stockholders who have 
properly demanded appraisal of such shares in accordance with Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), shares of 
Hewitt Common Stock held in the treasury of Hewitt, or shares of Hewitt Common Stock owned by Aon or Merger Sub) was converted into the 
right to receive, as consideration for the Merger (the “Merger Consideration”), at the election of the holder of such share, either (1) $25.61 in 
cash and 0.6362 of a share of Aon common stock (the “Mixed Consideration”), (2) $50.46 in cash (the “Cash Electing Consideration”) or 
(3) 0.7494 shares of Aon common stock and $21.19 in cash (the “Stock Electing Consideration”).  Pursuant to the terms of the Merger 
Agreement, the Cash Electing Consideration and the Stock Electing Consideration payable in the Merger were calculated based on the closing 
volume-weighted average price of Aon common stock on the NYSE for the period of ten consecutive trading days ended on September 30, 2010, 
which was $39.0545, and the Stock Electing Consideration was subject to automatic proration and adjustment to ensure that the total amount of 
cash paid and the total number of shares of Aon common stock issued by Aon in the Merger each represented approximately 50% of the 
aggregate Merger Consideration (taking into account the rollover of the Company’s stock options), as described in the Merger Agreement and in 
the definitive proxy statement/prospectus provided to Hewitt and Aon stockholders in connection with the special meetings of Hewitt and Aon 
stockholders held on September 20, 2010.  
   
In connection with the Merger, each outstanding unvested Hewitt stock option became fully vested, and, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at 
the Effective Time, each outstanding Hewitt stock option was converted into an option to purchase shares of Aon common stock, with the same 
terms and conditions as the Hewitt stock option (but taking into account any changes, including any acceleration or vesting of such option, by 
reason of the Merger).  The number of shares of Aon common stock subject to each such converted stock option is equal to the number of shares 
of Hewitt Common Stock subject to such Hewitt stock option, multiplied by the exchange ratio of 1.2920 (rounded down to the nearest whole 
share of Aon common stock).  The exercise price per share for each such converted stock option is equal to the per share exercise price specified 
in such Hewitt stock option, divided by the exchange ratio of 1.2920 (rounded up to the nearest cent).  
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Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the Effective Time, each share of restricted Hewitt Common Stock granted under the Company’s stock 
plan that was outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time became fully vested immediately prior to the Effective Time and was 
converted into the right to receive the Mixed Consideration. At the Effective Time, each restricted stock unit relating to Hewitt Common Stock 
granted under the Company’s stock plan that was outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time became fully vested and was settled in 
shares of Hewitt Common Stock, which were then converted into the right to receive the Mixed Consideration. At the Effective Time, each 
award of performance share units of Hewitt with respect to shares of Hewitt Common Stock granted under the Company’s stock plan that was 
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time became vested and was settled in shares of Hewitt Common Stock, which were then 
converted into the right to receive the Mixed Consideration.  
   
As a result of the consummation of the Merger, a change of control of the Company occurred and the Company became a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Aon. Aon paid the cash portion of the Merger Consideration using a combination of cash on hand, the proceeds of a term loan, and 
the proceeds of a registered notes offering.  
   
Effective as of the Effective Time, and pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Board of Directors of Aon elected Cheryl A. Francis 
and Judson C. Green, each a former director of the Company, as directors of Aon to serve until Aon’s 2011 annual meeting of stockholders.  
   
Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, at the Effective Time, the directors and officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the 
Effective Time became the directors and officers of the Surviving Corporation. As a result, each of Russell P. Fradin, William J. Conaty, Cheryl 
A. Francis, Judson C. Green, Michael E. Greenlees, Alex S. Mandl, Cary D. McMillan, Stacey J. Mobley, Thomas J. Neff, and Steven P. 
Stanbrook, who constituted the Board of Directors of the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time, ceased to be a member of the Board 
of Directors of the Company and any committees of the Company’s Board of Directors of which they were members, and each of Robert A. 
Schriesheim, Chief Financial Officer, Jay C. Rising, Senior Vice President, and Matthew C. Levin, Senior Vice President, Corporate 
Development and Strategy, ceased to be an officer of the Company, in each case, effective as of the Effective Time.  
   
On October 1, 2010, immediately prior to the Effective Time and in connection with the above-mentioned vesting of each outstanding Hewitt 
stock option, share of restricted Hewitt Common Stock, restricted stock unit relating to Hewitt Common Stock, and performance share units with 
respect to Hewitt Common Stock, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $90.3 million.  
   
The Company has evaluated subsequent events after the balance sheet date of September 30, 2010 through May 11, 2011, which is the date that 
the accompanying financial statements were issued.  
   
3.               Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
   
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. The significant accounting policies are summarized 
below:  
   
Principles of Consolidation  
   
The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the operations of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries after elimination 
of intercompany accounts and transactions.  Investments in affiliated companies in which the Company does not have control, but has the ability 
to exercise significant influence over governance and operations (generally 20-50 percent ownership), are accounted for by the equity method.  
   
Use of Estimates  
   
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  Estimates are used for, but are 
not limited to, the accounting for the allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization, contract and project loss reserves, 
performance-based compensation, short- and long-term investments, asset impairment, taxes, and contingencies.  Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions that the Company may undertake in the future, actual results may differ 
from the estimates.  
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Revenue Recognition  
   
Revenues include fees generated from outsourcing contracts and from consulting services provided to the Company’s clients.  Revenues from 
sales or licensing of software are not material. The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services 
have been rendered, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.  
   
The Company’s outsourcing contracts typically have three to five year terms for benefits services and five to ten year terms for HR BPO 
services. The Company recognizes revenues for non-refundable, up-front implementation fees evenly over the period that the related ongoing 
service revenues are recognized. Services provided outside the scope of the Company’s outsourcing contracts are recognized on a time-and-
material or fixed-fee basis.  
   
The Company provides consulting services to its clients either on a time-and-material or fixed-fee basis.  Revenues are recognized monthly 
under time-and-material-based arrangements as services are provided.  On fixed-fee engagements, revenues are recognized either as services are 
provided using a proportional-performance method or at the completion of a project based on facts and circumstances of the client arrangement.  
   
Contract losses on outsourcing or consulting arrangements are recognized in the period in which the loss becomes probable and the amount of 
the loss is reasonably estimable.  Contract losses are determined to be the amount by which the estimated direct costs, including any remaining 
deferred contract costs, exceed the estimated total revenues that will be generated by the contract.  When a loss is identified, it is first recorded as 
an impairment of deferred contract costs related to the specific contract, if applicable, with the remaining amount recorded as a loss reserve.  
Estimates are monitored during the term of the contract, and any changes to the estimates are recorded in the period the change is identified and 
may result in an adjustment to the loss reserve.  
   
The Company has contracts with multiple-element arrangements primarily in its Benefits Outsourcing and HR BPO segments. Multiple-element 
arrangements are assessed to determine whether they can be separated into more than one unit of accounting.  
   
On October 1, 2009, the Company adopted ASU No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition — Multiple Deliverable Arrangements (“ASU 2009-13”).  
Refer to the section labeled New Accounting Pronouncements within Note 3 for additional information on ASU 2009-13.  
   
As a result of adopting ASU 2009-13, for all new contracts and materially modified contracts on or after October 1, 2009, the following criteria 
must be met in order for a deliverable to qualify as a separate unit of accounting:  
   
•       The delivered items have value to the client on a stand-alone basis; and  
•       If the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the delivered items, delivery or performance of the undelivered items is 

considered probable and substantially in the control of the Company.  
   
Pursuant to ASU 2009-13, for all new contracts and materially modified contracts on or after October 1, 2009, the arrangement consideration is 
allocated to the separate units of accounting at the inception of the arrangement to all deliverables based on their relative selling price.  Under 
this method, the selling price for each deliverable is determined using vendor specific objective evidence of selling price (“VSOE”), third-party 
evidence of selling price (“TPE”), or in the absence of VSOE and TPE, the Company’s best estimate of selling price.  The best estimate of 
selling price is the price at which the Company would offer the service if the deliverable were sold regularly on a standalone basis.  Due to the 
level of customization of the Company’s services to its clients, selling price is generally determined by best estimate.  
   
For deliverables within Benefits Outsourcing, the Company typically determines the best estimate of selling price by analyzing market 
conditions and engagement specific risks.  This includes the number of participants expected in a plan, the level of customization and the 
complexity of the services to be delivered, as well as knowledge of market competition in the bid process.  For deliverables within HR BPO, the 
Company typically determines the best estimate of selling price using cost-plus pricing.  This involves evaluating the expected costs required to 
deliver the services as well as profit margin objectives.  
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For all contracts entered before October 1, 2009, the Company was also required to have objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the 
undelivered items in addition to the criteria above in order for a deliverable to qualify as a separate unit of accounting.   If there was objective 
and reliable evidence of fair value for all units of accounting in an arrangement, the arrangement consideration was allocated to the separate units 
of accounting based on each unit’s relative fair value.  Revenue was then recognized using a proportional-performance method, such as 
recognizing revenue based on transactional services delivered, or on a straight-line basis (as adjusted primarily for volume changes), as 
appropriate.  If these criteria were not met, deliverables included in an arrangement were accounted for as a single unit of accounting, and 
revenue and cost were deferred until the period in which the final deliverable is provided or a predominant service level has been attained and 
then recognized over the life of the contract.  
   
Revenue is then recognized using a proportional-performance method, such as recognizing revenue based on transactional services delivered, or 
on a straight-line basis (as adjusted primarily for volume changes), as appropriate.  
   
The Company evaluates arrangement modifications such as changes to pricing, changes to the period of the arrangement, changes to the 
population size, or changes to the contracted deliverables for both quantitative and qualitative implications in assessing whether an arrangement 
is materially modified in accordance with ASU 2009-13.  The determination of whether a modification to an existing revenue arrangement 
represents a material modification requires the use of judgment and considers the relevant facts and circumstances that exist when an 
arrangement is modified.  
   
For materially modified contracts, the Company reallocates the arrangement consideration to all of the identified services in the arrangement 
(both delivered and undelivered) based on the information available at the time the contract is materially modified. Allocated consideration is 
recognized in revenue for all delivered services (adjusting previously deferred revenue as appropriate), and consideration attributable to the 
undelivered services is deferred and recognized in the future as those services are delivered.  
   
The Company records revenues earned in excess of amounts billed as a current asset (unbilled work in process).  The Company records amounts 
billed in excess of revenues earned, prior to rendering services, as a current liability (advanced billings to clients).  
   
The Company considers the criteria established by ASC 605-45-45, Revenue Recognition — Principal Agent Considerations, in determining 
whether revenue should be recognized on a gross or a net basis.  In consideration of these criteria, the Company recognizes revenue primarily on 
a gross basis.  Factors considered in determining if gross or net recognition is appropriate include whether the Company is primarily responsible 
to the client for the delivery of services, changes the delivered product, performs part of the service delivered, has discretion on vendor selection 
and bears credit risk.  
   
Reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred are characterized as revenues and are shown as a separate component of total 
revenues in accordance with ASC 605-45-45-23, Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred .  Similarly, related 
reimbursable expenses are also shown separately within operating expenses.  
   
Deferred Contract Costs and Deferred Contract Revenues  
   
For long-term outsourcing service agreements, implementation efforts are often necessary to set up clients and their human resource or benefit 
programs on the Company’s systems and operating processes.  For outsourcing services sold separately or accounted for as a separate unit of 
accounting, specific, incremental, and direct costs of implementation incurred prior to the services going live are deferred and amortized over the 
period that the related ongoing services revenue is recognized.  Such costs may include internal and external costs for coding or customizing 
systems, costs for conversion of client data, and costs to negotiate contract terms. For outsourcing services that are accounted for as a combined 
unit of accounting, specific, incremental, and direct costs of implementation, as well as ongoing service delivery costs incurred prior to revenue 
recognition commencing, are deferred and amortized over the remaining contract services period.  Implementation fees are also generally 
received from clients either up-front or over the ongoing services period as a component of the fee per participant.  Lump-sum implementation 
fees received from a client are initially deferred and then recognized as revenue evenly over the ongoing contract services period.  If a client 
terminates an outsourcing services arrangement prior to the end of the contract, a loss on the contract may be recorded, if necessary, and any 
remaining deferred implementation revenues and costs would then be recognized into earnings over the remaining service period through the 
termination date.  
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Performance-Based Compensation  
   
The Company’s compensation program includes a performance-based component that is determined by management subject to annual review by 
the Compensation and Leadership Committee of the Board of Directors.  Performance-based compensation is discretionary and is based on 
individual, team, and total Company performance.  Performance-based compensation is paid once per fiscal year after the Company’s annual 
operating results are finalized.  The amount of expense for performance-based compensation recognized at interim dates involves judgment, is 
based on annual results as compared to internal targets, and takes into account other factors, including industry trends and the general economic 
environment.  Annual performance-based compensation levels may vary from current expectations as a result of changes in the actual 
performance of the Company, team, or individual.  Accrued amounts are subject to change in future periods if actual performance varies from 
performance levels anticipated in prior interim periods.  
   
Income Taxes  
   
The Company applies the asset and liability method described in ASC 740,  Income Taxes (“ASC 740”).  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized for future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The 
effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period in which the change is enacted. 
Valuation allowances are recognized to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount that is more-likely-than-not to be realized.  In assessing the 
likelihood of realization, management considers estimates of future taxable income.  
   
Financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return requires achieving a more-likely-
than-not threshold. The Company records a liability for the difference between the benefit recognized and measured pursuant to ASC 740 and 
the tax position taken or expected to be taken on the Company’s tax return. To the extent that the Company’s assessment of such tax positions 
changes, the change in estimate is recorded in the period in which the determination is made.  The consolidated tax provision and related 
accruals include the impact of such reasonably estimable losses and related interest and penalties, as deemed appropriate.  
   
Foreign Currency Translation  
   
The Company’s foreign operations use the local currency as their functional currency.  Accordingly, assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries 
are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at year-end, while revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates 
prevailing during the year.  Translation adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net, in 
stockholders’ equity.  Gains or losses resulting from foreign exchange transactions are recorded in earnings within other income (expense), net.  
Transaction gains totaled $5.7 million, $6.0 million, and $0.3 million in fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  
   
Concentrations of Credit Risk  
   
The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash equivalents, client receivables, unbilled 
work in process, and short- and long-term investments. Hewitt invests its cash equivalents in government and agency securities, the highest rated 
money market and similar investments, and continuously monitors the investment ratings. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to unbilled 
work in process and receivables are limited as no client makes up a significant portion of the Company’s billings.  The Company’s short- and 
long-term investments are mostly comprised of fixed-rate money market investments denominated in Indian rupees with a maturity greater than 
90 days and federally insured, student loan-backed securities that are rated Aaa/AAA/AAA by Moody’s, S&P, and Fitch, respectively, and are 
spread among many state issuers.  Credit risk itself is limited due to the Company’s large number of Fortune 500 clients, its clients’ strong credit 
histories, and their dispersion across many different industries and geographic regions.  For each of the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, 
and 2008, no single client represented ten percent or more of the Company’s total revenues.  
   
Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
   
Cash equivalents and client receivables are financial assets with carrying values that approximate fair value.  Accounts payable and the 
Company’s variable rate debt are financial liabilities with carrying values that approximate fair value.  As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, the 
carrying value of the Company’s fixed rate unsecured senior term notes was  
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$259.0 million and $276.0 million, respectively, and the fair value was estimated to be approximately $297.1 million and $294.4 million, 
respectively.  The estimate of fair value was calculated by discounting the future cash flows of the senior term notes at rates currently offered to 
the Company for similar debt instruments with comparable maturities.  
   
Cash and Cash Equivalents  
   
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents include cash and investments with maturities of 90 days or less when purchased.  At September 30, 
2010 and 2009, cash and cash equivalents included cash in checking and money market accounts as well as corporate tax-advantaged money 
market investments maturing in 90 days or less.  
   
Restricted Cash  
   
At September 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company had short-term, interest-bearing restricted cash of $10.9 million and zero, respectively, included 
in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.  This amount collateralizes the Company’s issuances of standby 
letters of credit.  The change in the restricted cash is reflected as a cash outflow from investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year ended September 30, 2010.  
   
Funds Held for Clients  
   
Some of the Company’s outsourcing agreements require the Company to hold funds on behalf of clients.  Funds held on behalf of clients are 
segregated from Hewitt corporate funds.  There is usually a short period between when the Company receives funds and when it pays obligations 
on behalf of clients.  
   
Investments  
   
Short-term investments include fixed-rate money market investments denominated in Indian rupees with a maturity greater than 90 days.  Long-
term investments include marketable debt securities that are classified as available-for-sale and recorded at fair value.  Marketable debt securities 
include auction rate securities (“ARS”) which generally have long-term nominal maturities that exceed one year, with interest rates that reset 
periodically in scheduled auctions (generally every 7-35 days).  Unrealized gains or losses are reported as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive (loss) income, net, to the extent they are deemed temporary.  Realized gains or losses and other-than-temporary unrealized losses, 
calculated using the specific-identification method, are reported in other income (expense), net, on the consolidated statements of operations.  
   
Refer to Note 7 for more information on the Company’s investments.  
   
Client Receivables and Unbilled Work in Process  
   
The Company regularly evaluates the collectibility of its client receivables and unbilled work in process based on a combination of factors.  In 
circumstances where the Company becomes aware of a specific client’s difficulty in meeting its financial obligations, the Company records an 
allowance for doubtful accounts to reduce the client receivable or unbilled work in process to the amount the Company reasonably believes will 
be collected.  For all other clients, the Company recognizes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on past write-off history and the length of 
time the receivables are past due or unbilled work in process is not billed. Facts and circumstances may change that would require the Company 
to alter its estimates of the collectibility of client receivables and unbilled work in process.  Accounts are written off against the allowance when 
the Company determines that the receivable or unbilled work in process will not be collected.  
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Property and Equipment  
   
Property and equipment, which include amounts recorded under capital leases, are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are as follows:  
   

   
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 
not be recoverable.  Recoverability of long-lived assets held for use are assessed by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the 
estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.  If the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows are less 
than the carrying amount of the asset, the asset is considered impaired and expense is recorded in an amount required to reduce the carrying 
amount of the asset to its fair value.  
   
Software Development Costs  
   
Costs for software developed for internal use are accounted for in accordance with ASC 350-40,  Intangibles-Goodwill and Other — Internal-
Use Software (“ASC 350-40”).  ASC 350-40 requires the capitalization of certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining 
internal-use software.  Client-related development or acquisition costs capitalized in accordance with ASC 350-40 are included in deferred 
contract costs, while capitalized costs for internal-use software are included in property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheet.  The 
Company amortizes the cost of software obtained or developed for internal use over periods ranging from three to five years from the date the 
asset is placed in service.  The Company amortizes the cost of software developed for client use over the life of the related client contract.  
   
Costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred.  Once the capitalization criteria of ASC 350-40 have been met, 
external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining internal-use computer software, payroll and payroll-related 
costs for employees who are directly associated with, and who devote time to, the internal-use computer software project (to the extent their time 
is spent directly on the project) and interest costs incurred when developing computer software for internal use are capitalized.  
   
Goodwill and Intangible Assets  
   
Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if indicators of impairment arise. The evaluation is based 
upon a comparison of the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill has been assigned to its carrying value.  The fair values 
used in this evaluation are estimated based upon discounted future cash flow projections for the reporting unit.  Refer to Note 11 for additional 
information on goodwill impairment.  
   
Intangible assets are initially valued at fair value using generally accepted valuation methods appropriate for the type of intangible asset.  
Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are reviewed for impairment if indicators of impairment 
arise.  The evaluation of impairment is based upon a comparison of the carrying amount of the intangible asset to the estimated future 
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.  If the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows are less than the carrying 
amount of the asset, the asset is considered impaired.  The impairment expense is determined by comparing the estimated fair value of the 
intangible asset to its carrying value, with any shortfall from fair value recognized as an expense in the current period.  
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Asset Description  
   Asset Life  

         
Computer equipment  

   3 to 5 years  
Capitalized software  

   3 to 5 years  
Telecommunications equipment  

   5 years  
Furniture and equipment  

   5 to 15 years  
Buildings  

   39 years  
Buildings under capital lease  

   15 years  
Leasehold improvements  

   Lesser of estimated useful life or lease term  



   
Amortization of the Company’s definite-lived intangible assets is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, which are as follows:  
   

   
Share-Based Compensation  
   
Restricted stock awards, including restricted stock and restricted stock units, are measured using the fair market value of the stock as of the grant 
date.  The Company recognizes compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.  
Compensation cost of all share-based awards with performance conditions are recognized on a straight-line basis (if cliff-vesting) or on an 
accelerated-attribution basis (if graded-vesting) over the requisite service period or the implicit service period if it is probable that the 
performance conditions will be met.  Estimated forfeitures are reviewed periodically and changes to the estimated forfeiture rate are recorded in 
current period earnings.  Employer payroll taxes are also recorded as expense over the vesting period.  The remaining unvested shares are subject 
to forfeiture and restrictions on sale or transfer based on vesting dates.  
   
The Company also grants nonqualified stock options at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the grant 
date.  The Company applies the Black-Scholes valuation method to compute the estimated fair value of the stock options and recognizes 
compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, on a straight-line basis so that the award is fully expensed at the vesting date.  Generally, 
stock options vest 25 percent on each anniversary of the grant date, are fully vested four years from the grant date, and have a term of ten years.  
   
The Company uses the simplified method to determine the expected life assumption for all of its options.  The Company continues to use the 
simplified method as it does not believe that it has sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate 
expected life due to the limited time its equity shares have been publicly traded.  
   
New Accounting Pronouncements  
   
In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141
(R), Business Combinations . This guidance is included in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations .  This 
guidance requires the Company to continue to follow the guidance in SFAS No. 141 (also included in ASC 805) for certain aspects of business 
combinations, and provides additional guidance defining the acquirer, recognizing and measuring the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities 
assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree, assets and liabilities arising from contingencies, defining a bargain purchase, and 
recognizing and measuring goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase. This guidance also requires transaction costs to be charged to earnings 
and requires contingent consideration to be recorded at its fair value on the acquisition date.  In addition, this guidance requires adjustments 
associated with changes in tax contingencies that occur after the measurement period, not to exceed one year, to be recorded as adjustments to 
income. This guidance is effective for all business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of an entity’s first 
fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008 (Hewitt’s fiscal year 2010); however, the guidance regarding the treatment of income tax 
contingencies is retrospective to business combinations completed prior to October 1, 2009.  The Company adopted this guidance for its business 
combinations occurring subsequent to October 1, 2009.  Refer to Note 4 for additional information on acquisitions.  
   
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB 
No. 51 .  Also, refer to ASC 810-10, Consolidation — Overall .  This guidance establishes accounting and reporting standards for noncontrolling 
interests and transactions between the reporting party and such noncontrolling interests.  This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008 (Hewitt’s fiscal year 2010). The Company adopted this guidance as 
of October 1, 2009. During fiscal 2010, the Company did not have any noncontrolling interests included in the consolidated financial 
statements.  As a result, the adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.  
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Asset Description  
   Asset Life  

         
Customer relationships  

   2 to 30 years  
Core technology  

   3 to 10 years  
Trademarks and tradenames  

   1 to 10 years  



   
In December 2007, the FASB issued EITF 07-1, Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements . This guidance is included in ASC 808, 
Collaborative Arrangements.  This guidance defines a collaborative agreement as a contractual arrangement in which the parties are active 
participants to the arrangement and are exposed to the significant risks and rewards that are dependent on the ultimate commercial success of the 
endeavor. Additionally, the guidance requires that revenue generated and costs incurred on sales to third parties from a collaborative agreement 
be recognized on a gross basis in the financial statements of the party that is identified as the principal participant in a transaction. It also requires 
payments between participants to be accounted for in accordance with existing GAAP unless none exists, in which case a reasonable, rational, 
consistent method should be used. The Company adopted this guidance as of October 1, 2009.  The adoption did not have a material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2010.  
   
In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP EITF 03-6-1, Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are 
Participating Securities.   This guidance is included in ASC 260-10-55, Earnings Per Share — Overall — Implementation Guidance and 
Illustrations.  This guidance addresses whether securities granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities prior to vesting 
and, therefore, need to be included in the earnings allocation in computing earnings per share under the two-class method described in ASC 260-
10-45-59A/60B, Earnings Per Share — Overall — Other Presentation Matters .  This guidance is effective for financial statements issued for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and interim periods within those years (Hewitt’s first quarter of fiscal 2010).  The Company 
adopted this guidance as of October 1, 2009.  The Company has determined that this guidance does not currently impact its consolidated 
financial statements as it does not have participating securities with a non-forfeitable right to dividends or dividend equivalents pursuant to ASC 
260-10-55.  
   
In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R)-1, Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets .  This FSP was 
included in FASB ASC 715-20, Compensation - Retirement Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans -General . This FSP expands the disclosure 
requirements relating to an employer’s plan assets of a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan.  The additional disclosures required 
under this guidance are to be included in the fiscal year ending after December 15, 2009 (Hewitt’s fiscal year 2010).  The Company adopted this 
guidance on October 1, 2009 and included the required disclosures in Note 18.  
   
In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2009-05, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, Measuring 
Liabilities at Fair Value (“ASU 2009-05”).  ASU 2009-05 provides amendments to ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures — 
Overall , for the fair value measurement of liabilities.  This update provides clarification that in circumstances in which a quoted price in an 
active market for the identical liability is not available, an entity is required to measure fair value using a valuation technique that uses a quoted 
price of the identical liability when traded as an asset, a quoted price for similar liabilities or similar liabilities when traded as an asset, or another 
valuation technique that is consistent with the principles of ASC 820.  This ASU is effective for the first period (including interim periods) 
beginning after issuance (Hewitt’s first quarter of fiscal year 2010).  The Company adopted this ASU as of October 1, 2009.  The adoption did 
not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.  See Note 9 for additional information on fair value measurements.  
   
In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13.  ASU 2009-13 updates the existing multiple-element revenue arrangements guidance 
currently included in ASC 605-25.  The revised guidance provides for two significant changes to the existing multiple-element revenue 
arrangements guidance. The first change relates to the determination of when the individual deliverables included in a multiple-element 
arrangement may be treated as separate units of accounting. This change will result in the requirement to separate more deliverables within an 
arrangement, ultimately leading to less revenue and cost deferral.  The second change modifies the manner in which the transaction 
consideration is allocated across the separately identified deliverables.  Together, these changes will result in earlier recognition of revenue and 
related costs for multiple-element arrangements than under previous guidance.  This guidance also expands the disclosures required for multiple-
element revenue arrangements.  The Company early adopted the provisions of this ASU on a prospective basis for all new contracts and 
materially modified contracts on or after October 1, 2009.  
   
As a result of the adoption of ASU 2009-13, revenues before reimbursements (“net revenues”) and operating income were higher by $ 18.4 
million and $8.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2010.  The impact resulted from contracts that were materially modified subsequent to 
October 1, 2009 and thus qualified for accounting under the new guidance.  As a result, the Company recognized revenue and costs that had been 
deferred under the previous guidance as well as ongoing revenue and costs that are no longer required to be deferred under the new guidance.  
The new guidance allows for deliverables for which revenue was previously deferred to be separated and recognized as the  
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services are delivered, rather than defer revenue for all deliverables until the final service is provided or a predominant service level has been 
attained.  The Company is not able to reasonably estimate the effect of adopting this guidance on future financial periods as the impact will vary 
based on the nature and volume of new or materially modified contracts in any given period.  
   
The Company modified its accounting policy related to revenue recognition to reflect the adoption of ASU 2009-13.  Refer to the section labeled 
Revenue Recognition in Note 3 for additional information.  
   
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASU 2010-06”). ASU 2010-06 provides new 
and amended disclosure requirements related to fair value measurements.  Specifically, this ASU requires new disclosures relating to activity 
within Level 3 fair value measurements, as well as transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements.  ASU 2010-06 also 
amends the existing disclosure requirements relating to valuation techniques used for fair value measurements and the level of disaggregation a 
reporting entity should include in fair value disclosures.   This update is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2009 (Hewitt’s second quarter of fiscal 2010).  The Company adopted this ASU as of January 1, 2010.  Refer to Note 9 for 
additional information on fair value measurements.  
   
4.               Acquisitions and Divestitures  
   
The Company continually assesses strategic acquisitions to complement its current business or to expand related services.  The Company also 
continually assesses opportunities to streamline its current business and to focus on core offerings.  During fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008, the 
Company completed the following acquisitions and divestitures:  
   
2010 Acquisitions  
   
On September 1, 2010, the Company acquired Ennis, Knupp and Associates, Inc. (“Ennis Knupp”), a provider of investment advisory services to 
large, complex institutional investors, for cash of $39.1 million.  The preliminary purchase price allocation resulted in the aggregate allocation of 
$13.2 million to goodwill, which was assigned to the Consulting segment.  
   
On May 5, 2010, the Company acquired certain net assets of HRAdvance, Inc. (“HRAdvance”), a dependent eligibility audit and ongoing 
verification service firm, for cash of $11.2 million.  The preliminary purchase price allocation resulted in the aggregate allocation of $4.9 million 
to goodwill, which was assigned to the Benefits Outsourcing segment.  
   
On March 3, 2010, the Company acquired Senior Educators Limited (“Senior Educators”), a Web-based retiree medical insurance exchange, for 
cash of $15.4 million.  The purchase price allocation resulted in the aggregate allocation of $10.9 million to goodwill, which was assigned to the 
Benefits Outsourcing segment.  
   
These acquisitions are not considered to be material to the Company, individually or in the aggregate, and, therefore, pro forma information has 
not been presented.  
   
2010 Divestiture  
   
On January 28, 2010, the Company signed an agreement to divest a portion of its North America Executive Compensation (“EC”) consulting 
business focused on advising boards of directors.  The divestiture occurred in two phases.  Its operations are included in the Consulting segment.  
This partial divestiture was in response to issues stemming from recent regulations promulgated by the SEC regarding the independence of 
consulting firms that provide EC services.  The first phase, which involved a select group of consultants leaving the Company to form Meridian 
Compensation Partners (“Meridian”), a fully independent EC services boutique, closed on January 28, 2010.  The second phase, which involved 
a second group of consultants leaving the Company to join Meridian, closed on September 30, 2010.  The Company received a promissory note 
in consideration for the divested business.  
   
The Company recorded a pretax loss of $0.3 million in total from both phases of the transaction during fiscal 2010.  
   
The Company has ongoing contractual obligations to provide the services previously provided by the divested businesses, has contracted with 
the buyers for those services, and continues to have direct cash flows with respect to  
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such services.  Because of the Company’s continued direct cash flows related to these divested businesses, the related operations are not 
classified as discontinued operations.  
   
2009 Acquisition  
   
On June 30, 2009, the Company acquired the remaining shares of its former joint venture BodeHewitt AG & Co. KG (“BodeHewitt”), one of the 
leading pension and benefits consultancies in Germany.  The total purchase price of €62.5 million ($85.4 million at various dates) reflects the 
acquisition of 100% of BodeHewitt shares in stages over several years.  In June 2009, the Company paid €50 million ($70.4 million at June 30, 
2009) in cash in exchange for the remaining 72.25% of outstanding shares of BodeHewitt.  The purchase price allocation resulted in the 
aggregate allocation of $59.8 million to goodwill, which was assigned to the Consulting segment.  The Company completed the purchase price 
allocation related to this acquisition during the third quarter of fiscal 2010.  The results of operations have been included in the consolidated 
statements of operations beginning with the Company’s fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.  Prior to this date, the Company accounted for its 
investment in BodeHewitt under the equity method of accounting.  This acquisition is not considered to be material to the Company, and, 
therefore, pro forma information has not been presented.  
   
2009 Divestitures  
   
In February 2009, the Company closed on the sale of the net assets and stock relating to its Latin America HR BPO business.  Additionally, in 
March 2009, the Company closed on the sale of the net assets relating to its HR BPO mobility services business.  Both divestitures were part of 
the Company’s continued efforts to streamline its HR BPO service offerings.  The Company recorded a pretax gain of $9.1 million primarily 
related to the recognition of cumulative currency translation adjustments during the quarter ended March 31, 2009 as a result of the sale of its 
Latin America HR BPO business.  The Company recorded a pretax gain of $0.3 million during the quarter ended March 31, 2009 as a result of 
the sale of its HR BPO mobility services business.  
   
The Company has ongoing contractual obligations to provide the services previously provided by the divested businesses, has contracted with 
the buyers for those services, and continues to have direct cash flows with respect to such services.  Because of the Company’s continued direct 
cash flows related to these divested businesses, the related operations are not classified as discontinued operations.  
   
2008 Acquisitions  
   
During 2008, the Company acquired a leaves management business and two Talent and Organization Consulting businesses for cash at an 
aggregate cost of $134.1 million.  The purchase price allocations resulted in the aggregate allocation of $97.0 million to goodwill, of which 
$59.5 million was assigned to the Benefits Outsourcing segment and $37.5 million was assigned to the Consulting segment.  
   
These acquisitions are not considered to be material to the Company, individually or in the aggregate, and, therefore, pro forma information has 
not been presented.  
   
2008 Divestiture  
   
On January 31, 2008, the Company sold the net assets of its Cyborg business (“Cyborg”).  Cyborg was acquired in 2003 and provided licensed, 
processed, and hosted payroll software services.  Its operations were included in the HR BPO segment.  The divestiture was a part of the 
Company’s efforts to streamline its HR outsourcing service offerings.  The Company recorded a pretax gain of $35.7 million during fiscal 2008 
as a result of the sale.  
   
The Company has ongoing contractual obligations to provide the services previously provided by the divested business, has contracted with the 
buyer for those services, and continues to have direct cash flows with respect to such services.  Because of the Company’s continued direct cash 
flows related to this divested business, the related operations are not classified as discontinued operations.  
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5.               Earnings Per Share  
   
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding. 
Diluted EPS includes the components of basic EPS and also gives effect to dilutive common stock equivalents. Treasury stock is not considered 
outstanding for either basic or diluted EPS as weighted from the date the shares were placed into treasury.  For purposes of calculating basic and 
diluted EPS, vested restricted stock awards are considered outstanding.  Under the treasury stock method, diluted EPS reflects the potential 
dilution that could occur if securities or other instruments that are convertible into common stock were exercised or could result in the issuance 
of common stock.  Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents include unvested restricted stock units and unexercised stock options that are 
in-the-money.  Restricted stock unit awards generally vest 25 percent at each fiscal year-end following the grant date and are not considered 
outstanding in basic EPS until the vesting date.  
   
The following table presents computations of basic and diluted EPS in accordance with U.S. GAAP (in thousands, except share and per share 
data):  
   

   
Debt securities convertible into 1,870,748 weighted-average shares of Class A common stock were outstanding in the year ended September 30, 
2008, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect of including the convertible debt securities would 
be antidilutive.  Of the outstanding stock options as of September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, 471,832, 740,614, and 54,244 weighted-average 
shares for each year, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect of including these shares 
would be antidilutive.  
   
6.               Client Receivables and Unbilled Work in Process  
   
Client receivables and unbilled work in process, net of allowances, at September 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
The activity in the client receivable and unbilled work in process allowances for the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of the 
following (in thousands):  
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      Year Ended September 30,  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Net income as reported  
   $ 231,600 

   $ 265,125 
   $ 188,142 

   
                     
Weighted-average outstanding shares — basic  

   93,170,808 
   93,400,271 

   98,791,739 
   

                     
Incremental effect of dilutive common stock equivalents:  

                  
Unvested restricted stock awards  

   1,009,575 
   904,475 

   1,303,573 
   

Unexercised stock options  
   1,290,216 

   1,085,280 
   1,872,704 

   
Unexercised warrants  

   —
   —

   2,305 
   

Weighted-average outstanding shares — diluted  
   95,470,599 

   95,390,026 
   101,970,321 

   
                     
Earnings per share — basic  

   $ 2.49 
   $ 2.84 

   $ 1.90 
   

Earnings per share — diluted  
   $ 2.43 

   $ 2.78 
   $ 1.85 

   

      2010  
   2009  

   
Client receivables  

   $ 368,424 
   $ 319,419 

   
Unbilled work in process  

   222,579 
   207,853 

   
Total  

   $ 591,003 
   $ 527,272 

   

      2010  
   2009  

   
Balance at beginning of year  

   $ 14,381 
   $ 18,029 

   
Provision for uncollectible accounts  

   3,723 
   1,614 

   
Write-offs  

   (3,522 )  (4,864 ) 
Acquisitions and divestitures  

   211 
   39 

   
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates  

   7 
   (437 ) 

Balance at end of year  
   $ 14,800 

   $ 14,381 
   



   
7.               Investments  
   
At September 30, 2010, the Company’s short-term investments were comprised of $38.1 million of fixed-rate money market investments 
denominated in Indian rupees with a maturity greater than 90 days, and its long-term investments were comprised of $44.2 million in auction 
rate securities (“ARS”).  
   
During February 2008, issues in the global credit and capital markets led to failed auctions with respect to the Company’s ARS.  Since 
February 2008, all of the Company’s outstanding ARS have been subject to failed auctions.  During fiscal 2010, $79.6 million of the Company’s 
ARS issues were called by the issuers at par, which includes $29.7 million redeemed pursuant to the terms of the put option discussed below.  
   
In November 2008, the Company accepted an offer from UBS AG (“UBS”), one of its investment brokers, to sell auction rate securities at par 
value originally purchased from UBS at any time during a two-year period beginning June 30, 2010.  UBS also had the right to buy the ARS at 
par value from the Company at any time.  By accepting this put option, the Company demonstrated it had the intent to sell these ARS under the 
terms of the UBS offer.  At that time, the Company changed the classification of the UBS-brokered ARS from available-for-sale securities to 
trading securities.  
   
On June 30, 2010, the Company exercised its put option and sold the remaining UBS ARS at par value of $29.7 million in accordance with the 
terms of this offer and received the related proceeds on July 1, 2010. The realized gain from the sale of the UBS ARS was offset by the decrease 
in fair value of the put option to zero.  The total impact of the put option and changes in the fair value of the UBS-brokered ARS during fiscal 
2010 was not material to the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.  
   
At September 30, 2010, the Company’s remaining ARS portfolio, with a par value of $46.6 million, had a fair value of $44.2 million.  In the 
absence of observable market data, the Company used a discounted cash flow model to determine the estimated fair value of its ARS at 
September 30, 2010.  Refer to Note 9 for additional information on the fair value measurement process for the Company’s ARS.  
   
The total unrealized loss recorded in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net, related to available-for-sale securities was $2.3 
million ($1.4 million net of tax) and $4.6 million ($2.8 million net of tax) as of September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  
   
Below is a reconciliation of the par value and estimated fair value of the Company’s auction rate securities for the year ended September 30, 
2010 (in thousands):  
   

   

(1)           Gains are recorded in other (expense) income, net within the consolidated statements of operations.  
   

Based on the contractual maturities of the available-for-sale ARS as of September 30, 2010, the par values of the securities were due after ten 
years.  
   
As of September 30, 2010, 99.7% of the Company’s ARS portfolio was comprised of federally insured, student loan-backed securities, and 
85.1% of the Company’s ARS portfolio was comprised of Aaa/AAA/AAA rated investments by Moody’s, S&P, and Fitch, respectively.  
   
The impairment of the available-for-sale ARS portfolio is considered to be temporary because the Company does not have the intent to sell, nor 
is it more-likely-than-not that the Company will be required to sell, any of its available-for-  
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      Trading  
   Available-For-Sale  

               
      UBS-Brokered ARS  

   Non-UBS-Brokered ARS  
   Total ARS  

   

      Par Value  
   

Estimated  
Fair Value  

   Par Value  
   

Estimated  
Fair Value  

   Par Value  
   

Estimated  
Fair Value  

   
Balance at October 1, 2009  

   $ 67,150 
   $ 60,994 

   $ 59,000 
   $ 54,442 

   $ 126,150 
   $ 115,436 

   
Sold during the period  

   (67,150 )  (67,150 )  (12,450 )  (12,450 )  (79,600 )  (79,600 ) 
Change in unrealized loss included in 

other comprehensive income  
   —

   —
   —

   2,248 
   —

   2,248 
   

Gains included in earnings (1)  
   —

   6,156 
   —

   —
   —

   6,156 
   

Balance at September 30, 2010  
   $ —

   $ —
   $ 46,550 

   $ 44,240 
   $ 46,550 

   $ 44,240 
   



   
sale ARS before recovery of its cost basis, and because there has been no significant deterioration in the creditworthiness of the underlying 
issuers.  However, the Company will reassess this conclusion in future reporting periods based on several factors, including possible failure of 
the investments to be redeemed, potential deterioration of the credit ratings of the investments, market risk, the Company’s continued intent to 
not sell any of the available-for-sale ARS before recovery of its cost basis and other factors.  Such a reassessment may result in a conclusion that 
these investments are other-than-temporarily impaired.  If it is determined that the fair value of these securities is other-than-temporarily 
impaired, the Company would record a loss in its consolidated statements of operations.  
   
8.               Derivative Instruments  
   
In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations and interest rate changes. The Company 
manages a portion of these risks by using derivative instruments to reduce the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
rates on its operating results and cash flows.  
   
As a result of the use of derivative instruments, the Company is exposed to the risk that counterparties to derivative contracts will fail to meet 
their contractual obligations. To mitigate the counterparty credit risk, the Company has a policy of only entering into contracts with carefully 
selected major financial institutions based upon their credit ratings and other factors.  The Company also continually assesses the 
creditworthiness of counterparties.  
   
In its hedging programs, the Company uses forward contracts and interest rate swaps. The Company does not use derivatives for trading or 
speculative purposes.  A brief description of the Company’s hedging programs is as follows.  
   
Currency Hedging  
   
The Company has a substantial operation in India for the development and deployment of technology solutions as well as for client and business 
support activities. The Company utilizes a foreign currency risk management program involving the use of foreign currency derivatives to hedge 
up to 75% of the Indian rupee (“INR”) exposure.  The Company uses cash flow hedges to hedge forecasted transactions with its India operations. 
The Company enters into non-deliverable forward exchange contracts as hedges of anticipated cash flows denominated in Indian rupees. These 
contracts protect against the risk that the eventual cash flows resulting from such transactions will be adversely affected by changes in exchange 
rates between the U.S. dollar and the Indian rupee.  
   
Interest Rate Risk Management  
   
In August 2008, the Company entered into a loan agreement that provided for a senior unsecured term loan in the amount of $270.0 million (the 
“Term Loan”).  The Term Loan initially accrued interest at a margin of 150 basis points over LIBOR and scheduled to mature on August 8, 
2013, without amortization.  The Company was exposed to interest rate risk from this long-term, variable-rate debt.  The Company used cash 
flow hedges to hedge future interest payments on the Term Loan.  The Company entered into interest rate swaps to partially convert this variable 
rate exposure into fixed rate.  As of March 31, 2009, the Company had swapped $270.0 million of the Term Loan for the first three years, $185.0 
million for the fourth year, and $100.0 million for the fifth year.  Only the variable LIBOR component of the Term Loan was swapped to fixed 
rate. These contracts protected against the risk that the eventual cash flows resulting from such transactions would be adversely affected by 
changes in interest rates.  On September 30, 2010, the Company repaid the entire balance of the Term Loan in connection with the Aon 
acquisition (see Note 2).  Accordingly, the hedges related to the Term Loan were terminated resulting in a loss of $12.8 million as of 
September 30, 2010, which was recorded as a charge to interest expense.  
   
All derivatives are recognized in the balance sheet at fair value.  Fair values for the Company’s derivative financial instruments are based on 
quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if none are available, on pricing models or formulas using current assumptions.  Changes in 
the fair value of derivatives that are highly effective are recorded in other comprehensive (loss) income, net, until the underlying transactions 
occur.  Realized gains or losses resulting from the cash flow hedges are recognized together with the hedged transaction in the consolidated 
statement of operations.  The effectiveness of the cash flow hedges is evaluated on a quarterly basis.  If a cash flow hedge is no longer highly 
effective, the unrealized gains or losses for the ineffective portion are recognized in other income (expense), net, in the consolidated statements 
of operations.  At the inception date, the Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well 
as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedging activities.  This process includes matching all derivatives that are 
designated as cash flow hedges to specific forecasted transactions.  The Company also formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception  
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and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of 
hedged items.  At September 30, 2010, all hedges were determined to be highly effective.  
   
The following table summarizes the fair value of derivative instruments and their respective balance sheet classifications at September 30, 2010 
and 2009, respectively (in thousands):  
   

   

   

(1)           Asset derivatives are classified within prepaid expenses and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.  Liability 
derivatives are classified within accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets.  

   
The following table summarizes the effect of derivatives instruments that are in cash flow hedging relationships on the consolidated statements 
of operations for the year ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):  
   
   

   

(1)           Gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated OCI into income (effective portion) is included in compensation and related expenses in the 
consolidated statements of operations.  

(2)           Loss reclassified from accumulated OCI into income (effective portion) is included in interest expense in the consolidated statements 
of operations.  

   
At September 30, 2010, the notional value of the derivatives related to outstanding non-deliverable Indian rupee forward contracts maturing by 
September 2012 was $147.5 million (INR 7.1 billion).  The estimated net amount of gains and losses at September 30, 2010 that is expected to 
be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income into income within the next twelve months is a net gain of approximately 
$4.4 million.  
   
During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company also used derivative instruments to hedge certain cash transactions to reduce the effects of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  These derivatives, which were settled during the third quarter of fiscal 2009, did not qualify for 
hedge accounting.  The Company recorded a gain of $1.9  
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      As of September 30, 2010  
   

      Asset Derivatives  
   Liability Derivatives  

   
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:  

             
Foreign exchange contracts (1)  

   $ 5,000 
   $ 1,203 

   
Interest rate contracts (1)  

   —
   —

   
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments  

   $ 5,000 
   $ 1,203 

   
Total derivatives  

   $ 5,000 
   $ 1,203 

   

      As of September 30, 2009  
   

      Asset Derivatives  
   Liability Derivatives  

   
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:  

             
Foreign exchange contracts (1)  

   $ 5,492 
   $ —

   
Interest rate contracts (1)  

   618 
   9,684 

   
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments  

   $ 6,110 
   $ 9,684 

   
Total derivatives  

   $ 6,110 
   $ 9,684 

   

      

Amount of Gain (Loss)  
Recognized in Other  

Comprehensive Income  
(“OCI”) on Derivatives  

(effective portion)  
   

Amount of Gain (Loss)  
Reclassified from  

Accumulated OCI into  
Income  

(effective portion)  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   2010  
   2009  

   
Foreign exchange contracts(1)  

   $ 7,054 
   $ 3,701 

   $ 8,749 
   $ (10,901 ) 

Interest rate contracts(2)  
   (3,715 )  (7,793 )  (12,781 )  n/a 

   
Total  

   $ 3,339 
   $ (4,092 )  $ (4,032 )  $ (10,901 ) 



   
million related to these derivatives which was recorded to other (expense) income, net, in the consolidated statements of operations.  
   
9.               Fair Value Measurements  
   
ASC 820 establishes a framework for measuring fair value, clarifies the definition of fair value within that framework, and expands disclosures 
about the use of fair value measurements.  ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability (i.e., an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  A fair value measurement assumes 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal 
market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.  
   
ASC 820 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based upon whether the inputs to those valuation techniques reflect assumptions that other 
market participants would use based upon market data obtained from independent sources (observable inputs) or reflect the Company’s own 
assumptions of market participant valuation (unobservable inputs).  Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under ASC 820 must 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the use of inputs used in valuation techniques into the following three levels:  
   

•                   Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets that are unadjusted and accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets 
or liabilities;  

   
•                   Level 2 – Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities 

in active markets or financial instruments for which significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly; and  
   
•                   Level 3 – Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable.  
   

When available, the Company uses unadjusted quoted market prices to measure fair value and classifies such items within Level 1.  If quoted 
market prices are not available, fair value is based upon internally developed models that use, where possible, current market-based or 
independently sourced market parameters such as interest rates and currency rates.  Items valued using internally generated models are classified 
according to the lowest level input or value driver that is significant to the valuation.  Thus, an item may be classified in Level 3 even though 
there may be inputs that are readily observable.  If quoted market prices are not available, the valuation model used depends on the specific asset 
or liability being valued.  
   
Pursuant to ASC 825, Financial Instruments, the Company elected to measure and report a put option relating to its ARS at fair value in order to 
account for the put option on the same basis (measured at fair value through earnings) as the associated asset (the ARS).  The put option was 
exercised on June 30, 2010.  Refer to Note 7 for more information.  
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The following table represents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis as of September 30, 2010 (in thousands):  
   

   
Level 2 assets and liabilities consist of derivative instruments used to reduce the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on the 
Company’s operating results and cash flows.  All derivatives are recognized in the balance sheet at fair value.  Fair values for the Company’s 
derivative financial instruments are based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if none are available, on pricing models or 
formulas using current assumptions.  
   
Level 3 assets consist of available-for-sale ARS classified as long-term investments as of September 30, 2010.  In the absence of observable 
market data, the Company used a discounted cash flow model to determine the estimated fair value of its ARS.  
   
The assumptions used in the preparation of the discounted cash flow model related to long-term investments were based on data available as of 
September 30, 2010, and include estimates of interest rates, timing and amount of cash flows, credit and liquidity premiums, and expected 
holding periods of the ARS.  These assumptions will be subject to change as the underlying data changes and market conditions evolve.  The 
assumed interest income yields for the Company’s ARS used in the discounted cash flow model were based on the yields provided for in the 
prospectus of each of the Company’s ARS issues, factoring in the forward yield curve.  The assumed discount rate used in the discounted cash 
flow model was based on the implied spreads on recent student loan issues and included an illiquidity factor, which reflects the illiquidity in the 
ARS market.  The assumed discount period used in the discounted cash flow model was determined by assigning a set of probabilities based on 
how the Company views its ARS to be liquidated, and included the current pace of redemptions at par and the average term that students take to 
repay related student loans.  
   
A one percentage point change on the interest income yields would impact the fair value of the ARS holdings by approximately $6.0 million.  A 
one percentage point change on the discount rate used for valuing the ARS holdings would impact the fair value by approximately $1.3 million.  
   
Refer to Note 7 for additional information on the Company’s ARS.  

   
26  

 

      Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using:  
   

      Level 1  
   Level 2  

   Level 3  
   Total  

   
Assets:  

                       
Cash, commercial paper, and money market funds  

   $ 543,612 
   $ —

   $ —
   $ 543,612 

   
Auction-rate securities  

   —
   —

   44,240 
   44,240 

   
Other short-term investments  

   38,140 
   —

   —
   38,140 

   
Derivative assets  

   —
   5,000 

   —
   5,000 

   
Total assets  

   $ 581,752 
   $ 5,000 

   $ 44,240 
   $ 630,992 

   
                          
Liabilities:  

                       
Derivative liabilities  

   $ —
   $ 1,203 

   $ —
   $ 1,203 

   
Total liabilities  

   $ —
   $ 1,203 

   $ —
   $ 1,203 

   
                          
Amounts included in:  

                       
Cash and cash equivalents  

   $ 532,727 
   $ —

   $ —
   $ 532,727 

   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  

   10,885 
   5,000 

   —
   15,885 

   
Short-term investments  

   38,140 
   —

   —
   38,140 

   
Long-term investments  

   —
   —

   44,240 
   44,240 

   
Accrued expenses  

   —
   (1,203 )  —

   (1,203 ) 
Total  

   $ 581,752 
   $ 3,797 

   $ 44,240 
   $ 629,789 

   



   
The following table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the assets measured at fair value using significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):  
   

   

(1)           Gains (losses) are recorded in other (expense) income, net, within the consolidated statements of operations.  
   

As discussed in Note 11, the Company recorded a pretax non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $17.0 million ($10.6 million net of tax) during 
fiscal 2010.  The goodwill impairment charge was a result of comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value.  The 
fair value of the reporting unit was estimated using the expected present value of future cash flows, and included estimates, judgments, and 
assumptions that management believes were appropriate in the circumstances.  The estimates and judgments that most significantly affected the 
fair value calculations were assumptions related to revenue growth, expense levels, and discount rates.  The fair value of the reporting unit 
impacted by the goodwill impairment charge is considered a non-recurring Level 3 fair value measurement.  
   
As discussed in Note 16, during fiscal 2010, the Company recorded an expense of $5.6 million related to the exit and consolidation of facilities 
in the United States and the United Kingdom and an expense of $5.2 million related to updated sublease rental assumptions used to determine 
the fair value of the liabilities incurred to exit certain facilities.  The fair values of expected lease obligations for these vacated facilities are 
considered non-recurring Level 3 fair value measurements.  Refer to Note 16 for additional information on the Company’s real estate 
restructuring activities.  
   
During fiscal 2010, the Company recorded a pretax non-cash asset impairment charge of $4.6 million related to internally developed capitalized 
software. The Company determined that it was no longer probable that the software would be completed and placed in service.  As a result, the 
software has a fair value of zero.  The net charge of $4.6 million was recorded as a component of operating expenses in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations and related to the Consulting segment.  This software impairment is a non-recurring Level 3 fair value 
measurement.  
   
As discussed in Note 4, the Company received a promissory note for the sale of a divested business during fiscal 2010.  The fair value of the 
promissory note of $3.7 million, recorded in other non-current assets, was determined using a discounted cash flow model. The assumptions 
used in the preparation of the discounted cash flow model related to the promissory note received for the sale of a divested business were based 
on data available as of September 30, 2010, and include estimates of interest rates, timing, and amount of cash flows.  The estimates and 
judgments that most significantly affected the fair value calculations were assumptions related to discount rates.  The fair value of the 
promissory note received for the sale of a divested business is considered a non-recurring Level 3 fair value measurement.  
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Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date  
Using Significant Unobservable Inputs  

(Level 3)  
   

      

Auction  
rate  

securities  
   

Put  
option  

   Total  
   

Balance at October 1, 2009  
   $ 115,436 

   $ 6,138 
   $ 121,574 

   
Sold during the period  

   (79,600 )  —
   (79,600 )  

Change in unrealized loss included in other comprehensive 
income  

   2,248 
   —

   2,248 
   

(Losses) gains included in earnings (1)  
   6,156 

   (6,138 )  18 
   

Balance at September 30, 2010  
   $ 44,240 

   $ —
   $ 44,240 

   



   
10.  Property and Equipment  
   
As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, net property and equipment, which includes assets under capital leases, consisted of the following (in 
thousands):  
   

   
As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, the cost of assets under capital leases was $108.6 million and $108.8 million, respectively, and related 
accumulated depreciation was $56.4 million and $46.5 million, respectively.  
   
Long-lived assets with definite useful lives are depreciated or amortized over their estimated useful lives and are tested for impairment whenever 
indicators of impairment arise.  
   
During the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company evaluated certain long-lived assets for impairment.  For the years 
ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company recorded $4.6 million, zero, and $1.0 million, respectively, of non-cash charges 
related to the impairment of capitalized software, shown within goodwill and asset impairment in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations, which were recorded as a decrease to the gross carrying value of the asset.  Fiscal 2010 impairment charges were recorded within the 
Consulting segment results and related to the Company’s determination that it was no longer probable that certain internally developed software 
would be completed and placed in service.  As a result, the software has a fair value of zero.  Fiscal 2008 impairment charges were recorded 
within the HR BPO segment results and were primarily due to lower than expected utilization of certain assets.  Fair value was calculated using 
estimated discounted future cash flow projections.  
   
For the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company recognized depreciation and amortization expense on its property and 
equipment, which includes assets under capital leases, of $113.8 million, $113.3 million, and $117.0 million, respectively.  
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      2010  
   2009  

   
Property and equipment:  

             
Buildings  

   $ 89,622 
   $ 89,594 

   
Capitalized software  

   480,444 
   396,845 

   
Computer equipment  

   313,590 
   290,749 

   
Telecommunications equipment  

   156,865 
   138,690 

   
Furniture and equipment  

   139,841 
   153,707 

   
Leasehold improvements  

   180,747 
   179,842 

   
Total property and equipment  

   1,361,109 
   1,249,427 

   
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  

   (956,887 )  (865,173 )  
Balance at end of year  

   $ 404,222 
   $ 384,254 

   



   
11.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  
   
The following is a summary of changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):  
   

   
The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually and whenever indicators of impairment arise.  During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 and 
2010, the Company performed its annual impairment review of goodwill.  This review resulted in no impairment of goodwill during fiscal 2009 
and 2010 as a result of its annual review.  
   
As discussed in Note 4, during fiscal 2010, the Company completed a two-phased divestiture of a portion of its North America EC Consulting 
business focused on advising boards of directors.  As a result, the Company allocated goodwill between the portion of the reporting unit retained 
and the portion of the reporting unit disposed of, based on their relative fair values on January 28, 2010, and also on September 30, 2010.  The 
fair values of the portion of the reporting unit retained and the portion of the reporting unit disposed of were estimated using the expected present 
value of future cash flows and included estimates, judgments, and assumptions that management believes were appropriate in the circumstances.  
The estimates and judgments that most significantly affected the fair value calculations were assumptions related to revenue growth, 
compensation levels, and discount rates.  The allocation of goodwill resulted in $5.5 million of goodwill assigned to the portion of the reporting 
unit disposed of in both the first and second phase of the divestiture.  
   
As a result of this two-phased partial divestiture, the Company was required to test the reporting unit impacted by the partial divestiture for 
impairment as of January 28, 2010 and also as of September 30, 2010, pursuant to ASC 350,  Intangibles—Goodwill and Other .  These goodwill 
impairment tests were based upon a comparison of the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value.  The January 28, 2010, 
interim analysis resulted in a pretax non-cash impairment charge of $17.0 million ($10.6 million net of tax) related to the Consulting segment 
recorded as a component of operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  The September 30, 2010, interim 
analysis resulted in no goodwill impairment.  
   
Additions, adjustments, and reclassifications of goodwill for the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, related to the following acquisitions 
(see Note 4 for additional information on acquisitions):  
   
2010 Acquisitions  
   
The Company acquired Ennis Knupp, HRAdvance and Senior Educators during fiscal 2010.  The Company assigned $13.2 million of aggregate 
goodwill to the Consulting segment related to the Ennis Knupp acquisition and $15.8 million of aggregate goodwill to the Benefits Outsourcing 
segment related to the HRAdvance and Senior Educators acquisitions.  
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      Benefits  
               

      Outsourcing  
   Consulting  

   Total  
   

Balance at September 30, 2008  
   $ 88,005 

   $ 276,136 
   $ 364,141 

   
Additions  

   —
   57,974 

   57,974 
   

Adjustment and reclassifications  
   12,621 

   843 
   13,464 

   
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  

   192 
   (23,026 )  (22,834 ) 

Balance at September 30, 2009  
   $ 100,818 

   $ 311,927 
   $ 412,745 

   
Additions  

   15,774 
   13,179 

   28,953 
   

Impairment  
   —

   (17,026 )  (17,026 ) 
Allocation to divested business  

   —
   (5,539 )  (5,539 ) 

Adjustment and reclassifications  
   (4,765 )  (601 )  (5,366 ) 

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  
   (578 )  (7,076 )  (7,654 ) 

Balance at September 30, 2010  
   $ 111,249 

   $ 294,864 
   $ 406,113 

   



   
2009 Acquisition  
   
The Company acquired the remaining shares of its former joint venture, BodeHewitt AG & Co. KG (“BodeHewitt”) during the third quarter of 
fiscal 2009.  The preliminary purchase price allocation resulted in the aggregate addition of $57.3 million to goodwill as of September 30, 2009, 
which was assigned to the Consulting segment.  This amount is reflected as an addition to goodwill during the year ended September 30, 2009.  
The Company finalized the opening balance sheet related to this acquisition during fiscal 2010 and recorded adjustments to reduce goodwill in 
the amount of $2.5 million during the year ended September 30, 2010.  
   
2008 Acquisitions  
   
The Company acquired two Talent and Organization Consulting businesses during fiscal 2008 and recorded preliminary aggregate goodwill of 
$36.9 million to the Consulting segment.  This amount is reflected as an addition to goodwill during the year ended September 30, 2008.  The 
Company finalized the opening balance sheets related to these acquisitions during fiscal 2009 and recorded adjustments to goodwill of $0.6 
million during the year ended September 30, 2009.  
   
The Company also acquired a leaves management business during fiscal 2008 and recorded preliminary goodwill of $46.9 million to the Benefits 
Outsourcing segment.  This amount is reflected as an addition to goodwill during the year ended September 30, 2008.  The Company finalized 
the opening balance sheet related to this acquisition during fiscal 2009 and recorded adjustments to goodwill of $12.6 million during the year 
ended September 30, 2009.  The Company negotiated a reduction in purchase price related to this acquisition during fiscal 2010 and recovered 
funds held in escrow.  The purchase price reduction was recorded as an adjustment to Benefits Outsourcing goodwill during the year ended 
September 30, 2010.  
   
Other  
   
The Company recorded the additional purchase price of a fiscal 2006 acquisition as an addition to Consulting goodwill during the year ended 
September 30, 2009.  The purchase price was subject to certain contingent payments held as restricted cash, if the acquired entity achieved 
specific operating targets.  The restricted cash was paid out under the terms of an escrow agreement on October 30, 2008, upon achievement of 
the targets.  The Company also recorded adjustments and reclassifications of Consulting goodwill during fiscal years 2009 and 2010 related to 
adjustments to tax benefits relating to prior-year acquisitions within the Consulting segment.  
   
The following is a summary of definite-lived intangible assets at September 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):  
   

   
Amortization expense related to the definite-lived intangible assets for the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, was as follows (in 
thousands):  
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      September 30, 2010  
   September 30, 2009  

   

      

Gross  
Carrying  
Amount  

   
Accumulated  
Amortization  

   Net  
   

Gross  
Carrying  
Amount  

   
Accumulated  
Amortization  

   Net  
   

Customer relationships  
   $ 269,269 

   $ 113,476 
   $ 155,793 

   $ 260,664 
   $ 97,887 

   $ 162,777 
   

Core technology  
   54,039 

   27,022 
   27,017 

   48,551 
   21,310 

   27,241 
   

Trademarks and tradenames  
   13,158 

   4,894 
   8,264 

   5,371 
   3,910 

   1,461 
   

Total  
   $ 336,466 

   $ 145,392 
   $ 191,074 

   $ 314,586 
   $ 123,107 

   $ 191,479 
   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Customer relationships  
   $ 15,251 

   $ 14,858 
   $ 25,808 

   
Core technology  

   5,675 
   3,955 

   3,293 
   

Trademarks and tradenames  
   981 

   1,532 
   780 

   
Total  

   $ 21,907 
   $ 20,345 

   $ 29,881 
   



   
Applying foreign exchange rates at September 30, 2010, estimated amortization expense related to the intangible assets at September 30, 2010, 
for each of the years in the five-year period ending September 30, 2015, and thereafter is projected to be as follows (in thousands):  
   

   
As of September 30, 2010, the weighted-average remaining useful life of customer relationships, core technology, and trademarks, and 
tradenames is 13 years, 5 years, and 6 years, respectively.  
   
During the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company evaluated certain intangible assets for impairment.  The Company 
recorded non-cash charges of zero, $0.2 million, and $0.8 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively, shown within goodwill and asset 
impairment in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, which were recorded as a decrease to the carrying value of the asset.  
The impairment charges in fiscal 2009 and 2008 were recorded to the HR BPO segment, related to customer relationships and were primarily 
due to lower than expected future cash flows.  Fair value was determined using an estimated discounted cash flow analysis.  
   
12.  Other Non-Current Assets, Net  
   
As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, other non-current assets, net, consisted of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
The Company has several prepaid long-term contracts for maintenance on computer software systems.  Services and expense related to these 
long-term prepaid maintenance contracts are received and recognized over the contractual period.  
   
Investments in less than 50%-owned affiliated companies over which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, but lacks 
control, are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.  
   
13.  Short-Term Debt  
   
The Company did not have any short-term debt outstanding as of September 30, 2010 and 2009.  
   
Unsecured lines of credit  
   
On October 9, 2009, the Company replaced a five-year $200.0 million credit facility with a three-year $250.0 million credit facility with a multi-
bank syndicate. This credit facility contained a $25.0 million sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit.  Borrowings under this facility 
accrued interest at LIBOR plus 200-300 basis points or a base rate plus 100-200 basis points. Borrowings were repayable at expiration of the 
facility on October 9, 2012, and quarterly commitment fees ranging from 30-50 basis points were charged under the credit facility.  The 
Company terminated this credit facility on September 30, 2010, in connection with the Aon acquisition (see Note 2).At September 30, 2009, 
there were no borrowings outstanding against the five-year $200.0 million facility, and the letters of credit secured by this facility were $10.9 
million.  
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      Total  
   

Fiscal year ending:  
        

2011  
   $ 23,993 

   
2012  

   23,348 
   

2013  
   22,989 

   
2014  

   22,861 
   

2015  
   18,500 

   
2016 and thereafter  

   79,383 
   

Total  
   $ 191,074 

   

      2010  
   2009  

   
Other non-current assets, net:  

             
Long-term portion of prepaid service costs  

   $ 10,389 
   $ 13,065 

   
Income tax receivable  

   5,455 
   13,118 

   
Long-term note receivable, net  

   3,688 
   1,300 

   
Investments in affiliated companies  

   1,477 
   2,978 

   
Long-term unbilled work in process  

   1,027 
   144 

   
Prepaid pension assets  

   687 
   930 

   
Other non-current assets, net  

   $ 22,723 
   $ 31,535 

   



   
Hewitt Bacon & Woodrow Ltd., the Company’s U.K. subsidiary, had an unsecured British pound sterling line of credit.  In July 2005, the line of 
credit was amended and extended to allow for borrowings up to £5.0 million until the expiration of the facility on July 31, 2006, which had been 
extended several times, most recently through September 30, 2010. The interest rate for this line of credit was the U.K. base rate plus 180 basis 
points.  As of September 30, 2009, the interest rate on the line of credit was 2.3%, and there was no outstanding balance.  The Company 
terminated this line of credit on September 30, 2010, in connection with the Aon acquisition (see Note 2).  
   
The Company has a contract with a lender to guarantee borrowings of its subsidiaries up to $20.5 million in multiple currency loans and letters 
of credit, as well as bank guarantees up to $2.9 million in multiple currencies. There is no fixed termination date on this contract.  This contract 
allows the Company’s foreign subsidiaries to secure financing at rates based on the Company’s creditworthiness.  The contract provides for 
borrowings at LIBOR plus 75 basis points and is payable upon demand.  As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, there were no borrowings 
outstanding under this contract and bank guarantees were $2.9 million.  
   
The Company has overdraft facilities and letters of credit of $3.1 million available in Europe. There are no fixed termination dates for these 
contracts. As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, there were no borrowings outstanding against these facilities, and letters of credit secured under 
these facilities were zero and $0.8 million, respectively.  
   
14.  Debt  
   
Debt at September 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
The principal portion of long-term debt, excluding capital lease obligations, at September 30, 2010, becomes due as follows (in thousands):  
   

   
Various debt agreements call for the maintenance of specified financial ratios, among other restrictions.  At September 30, 2010 and 2009, the 
Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.  
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      2010  
   2009  

   
Unsecured senior term loan  

   $ —
   $ 270,000 

   
Unsecured senior term notes  

   259,000 
   276,000 

   
Term loan credit facility  

   —
   26,631 

   
Capital lease obligations  

   73,117 
   82,161 

   
Other debt  

   127 
   51 

   
Subtotal  

   332,244 
   654,843 

   
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations  

   32,273 
   36,282 

   
Debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion  

   $ 299,971 
   $ 618,561 

   

      Total  
   

Fiscal year ending:  
        

2011  
   $ 22,024 

   
2012  

   7,055 
   

2013  
   24 

   
2014  

   24 
   

2015  
   175,000 

   
2016 and thereafter  

   55,000 
   

Total  
   $ 259,127 

   



   
Unsecured senior term loan  
   
On August 8, 2008, the Company entered into a loan agreement that provided for a senior unsecured term loan in the amount of $270.0 million 
(the “Term Loan”).  The Term Loan initially accrued interest at a margin of 150 basis points over LIBOR which would change depending on the 
leverage ratio of the Company. The Term Loan was scheduled to mature on August 8, 2013, without amortization. The Company had the option 
to prepay the Term Loan in whole or in part at any time without penalty subject to certain conditions. The loan agreement included leverage ratio 
and interest coverage ratio covenants.  On September 30, 2010, the Company repaid the entire balance of the Term Loan in connection with the 
Aon acquisition (see Note 2).  
   
The Company was exposed to interest rate risk from this long-term, variable rate debt.  The Company used cash flow hedges to hedge future 
interest payments on the Term Loan.  The Company entered into interest rate swaps to partially convert this variable rate exposure into fixed 
rate.  As of March 31, 2009, the Company had swapped $270.0 million of the Term Loan for the first three years, $185.0 million for the fourth 
year, and $100.0 million for the fifth year.  Only the variable LIBOR piece of the Term Loan was swapped to fixed rate. These contracts 
protected against the risk that the eventual cash flows resulting from such transactions would be adversely affected by changes in interest rates.    
Accordingly, the hedges related to the Term Loan were terminated on September 30, 2010, at a cost of $12.8 million that was recorded to 
interest expense.  Refer to Note 8 for additional information on derivative instruments.  
   
Unsecured senior term notes  
   
On August 21, 2008, the Company issued and sold $230.0 million aggregate principal amount of privately placed senior unsecured notes (the 
“Notes”), consisting of (a) $175.0 million of 6.57% Series F Senior Notes due August 21, 2015 and (b) $55.0 million of 6.98% Series G Senior 
Notes due August 21, 2018.  Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears.  Subject to certain conditions, the Company may, at its option, prepay 
all or part of the Notes at any time with a make-whole adjustment.  The note purchase agreement includes leverage ratio and interest coverage 
ratio covenants.  In the event of a default by the Company under the note purchase agreement, any outstanding obligations under the note 
purchase agreement may become due and payable immediately.  
   
The Company also has outstanding unsecured senior term notes in the amount of $29.0 million issued between March 30, 2000 and October 16, 
2000.  Subject to certain conditions, the Company may, at its option, prepay all or part of the notes at any time with a make-whole adjustment.  
These notes were issued to various financial institutions. The terms and balances of the unsecured senior term notes are as follows (in 
thousands):  
   

   
Term loan credit facility  
   
On December 22, 2004, Hewitt Bacon & Woodrow Ltd. entered into a £6.0 million term loan credit facility agreement, which was repayable in 
24 quarterly installments through December 2010 and accrued interest at LIBOR plus 80 basis points. On March 26, 2008, the Company 
replaced the term loan credit facility agreement and increased the amount to £23.8 million, which was repayable in 20 quarterly installments 
through March 26, 2013, and accrued interest at LIBOR plus 50 basis points.  At September 30, 2009, the outstanding balance of the term loan 
was £16.6 million or $26.6 million, and accrued interest at 1.2%.  The Company terminated this line of credit on September 30, 2010, in 
connection with the Aon acquisition (see Note 2).  
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Terms  
   

Balance at  
Issuance  

   
Interest  

Rate  
   

September 30,  
2010  

   
September 30,  

2009  
  

Issued July 7, 2000, repayable on June 30, 2010  
   $ 10,000 

   8.11 %  $ -
   $ 10,000 

  

Issued on October 16, 2000, repayable on October 15, 2010  
   15,000 

   7.90 %  15,000 
   15,000 

  

Issued on March 30, 2000, repayable in five annual installments 
beginning March 2008 through March 2012  

   35,000 
   8.08 %  14,000 

   21,000 
  

Issued on August 21, 2008, repayable on August 21, 2015  
   175,000 

   6.57 %  175,000 
   175,000 

  

Issued on August 21, 2008, repayable on August 21, 2018  
   55,000 

   6.98 %  55,000 
   55,000 

  

Total  
   $ 290,000 

        $ 259,000 
   $ 276,000 

  



   
Other debt  
   
Other debt outstanding at September 30, 2010, totaled $0.1 million related to a note payable to a former shareholder of an acquired company and 
also pursuant to local banking relationships.  Other debt outstanding at September 30, 2009, totaled $0.1 million pursuant to local banking 
relationships.  
   
15.        Lease Agreements  
   
The Company has obligations under long-term, non-cancelable lease agreements, principally for office space, furniture, and equipment, with 
terms ranging from one to twenty years.  At September 30, 2010 and 2009, all leases were with third-parties.  
   
Capital leases  
   
Capital lease obligations at September 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
The following is a schedule of minimum future rental payments required as of September 30, 2010, under capital leases which have an initial or 
remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year (in thousands):  
   

   
Building capital leases  
   
The Norwalk, Connecticut, and Newport Beach, California, capital leases are payable in monthly installments at 7.3% interest and expire in 
April 2017 and May 2017, respectively.  The leases provide for stepped rents over the lease term with the option for two renewal terms of five 
years each.  The capitalized leases and the related capital lease obligations were recorded at lease inception, and the capitalized lease assets are 
being amortized over the remaining lease term on a straight-line basis. The terms of the Norwalk lease also provide the Company with a right of 
first refusal if the landlord receives an offer for the sale of the building.  In April 2007, the Company entered into a sublease agreement for the 
Norwalk lease.  Minimum sublease rentals expected to be received in the future under the sublease are $18.6 million at September 30, 2010.  
   
Computer and telecommunications equipment capital leases  
   
During fiscal 2009, the Company entered into a capitalized lease agreement in the amount of $6.0 million related to computer hardware 
equipment.  The agreement calls for payments over five years in monthly installments, at an interest rate of 2.8%, beginning in October 2009.  
   
During fiscal 2008, the Company entered into a capitalized lease agreement in the amount of $13.3 million related to voice over internet protocol 
equipment.  The agreement, which was finalized in fiscal 2010, calls for payments over five years in monthly installments, at an interest rate of 
3.4%, beginning in January 2010.  
   
The Company’s computer and other telecommunications equipment installment notes and capitalized leases are secured by the related equipment 
and are typically payable over three to five years in monthly or quarterly installments at an interest rate of 5.0%.  
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      2010  
   2009  

   
Building capital leases  

   $ 56,646 
   $ 62,383 

   
Computer and telecommunications equipment capital leases  

   16,471 
   19,778 

   
   

   73,117 
   82,161 

   
Current portion  

   10,249 
   11,650 

   
Capital lease obligations, less current portion  

   $ 62,868 
   $ 70,511 

   

Fiscal year ending:  
   Principal  

   Interest  
   Total  

   
2011  

   $ 10,249 
   $ 4,395 

   $ 14,644 
   

2012  
   10,934 

   3,774 
   14,708 

   
2013  

   11,737 
   3,108 

   14,845 
   

2014  
   12,673 

   2,383 
   15,056 

   
2015  

   10,212 
   1,638 

   11,850 
   

2016 and thereafter  
   17,312 

   1,089 
   18,401 

   
Total minimum lease payments  

   $ 73,117 
   $ 16,387 

   $ 89,504 
   



   
Operating leases  
   
The Company also has various third-party operating leases for office space, furniture, and equipment with terms ranging from one to twenty 
years.  The Company has various office leases that grant a free rent period and have escalating rents.  Certain office leases include landlord 
incentives for leasehold improvements.  Landlord incentives are recognized as a reduction to rental expense over the term of the lease.  The 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations include rent expense on a straight-line basis, recognized over the term of the leases.  The 
difference between straight-line basis rent and the amount paid has been recorded as accrued lease obligations within accrued expenses in the 
consolidated balance sheets.  
   
The following is a schedule of minimum future rental commitments as of September 30, 2010, under operating leases with an initial or 
remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year (in thousands):  
   

   
Total rental expense for operating leases amounted to $82.8 million, $86.0 million, and $129.5 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  
   
16.        Restructuring Activities  
   
During the third quarter of fiscal 2007 and throughout fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2010, the Company recorded charges related to the exit and 
consolidation of facilities in the U.S. and international locations.  These charges consisted of the recognition of the fair value of expected lease 
obligations for vacated facilities, lease termination and cancellation penalties and the reversal of prepaid and accrued rents.  The charges also 
included adjustments to the fair value of expected lease obligations for vacated facilities related to an update of sublease assumptions.  The 
significant assumptions used in computing the fair value of expected lease obligations for vacated facilities include estimates of the timing and 
amounts of sublease receipts related to the vacated facilities as well as prevailing discount rates.  Refer to Note 9 for additional information on 
fair value measurements.  
   
The following table summarizes the activity in the restructuring reserves for the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands) which 
are recorded in accrued expenses and other-non current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets:  
   

   
Fiscal 2010 activity  
   
During the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recorded expense of $5.6 million related to the exit and consolidation of facilities in the 
United States and the United Kingdom.  The charges consisted of the recognition of the fair value of expected lease obligations for these exited 
facilities.  The net costs were recorded in other operating expense within the consolidated statements of operations and charged to the Benefits 
Outsourcing and Consulting segments in the amounts of $3.2 million and $2.4 million, respectively.  
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Fiscal year ending:  
   Total  

   
2011  

   $ 87,673 
   

2012  
   81,385 

   
2013  

   74,795 
   

2014  
   67,593 

   
2015  

   54,680 
   

2016 and thereafter  
   150,510 

   
Total minimum lease payments  

   516,636 
   

Less: anticipated future sublease receipts  
   (23,151 ) 

Total minimum lease payments, less anticipated future sublease receipts  
   $ 493,485 

   

      2010  
   2009  

   
               
Balance at beginning of year  

   $ 52,207 
   $ 51,203 

   
Additions  

   6,031 
   7,992 

   
Payments, net  

   (13,915 )  (12,810 ) 
Adjustments  

   6,437 
   5,822 

   
Balance at end of year  

   $ 50,760 
   $ 52,207 

   



   
Additionally, during the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company updated estimated sublease rental assumptions used to determine the fair 
value of the liabilities incurred to exit certain facilities.   These assumptions were updated to reflect current market conditions relating to the 
commercial real estate rental market in the U.S.  As a result, the Company recorded adjustments to increase the restructuring reserve by $5.2 
million.  These additional costs were recorded in other operating expenses within the consolidated statements of operations and charged to the 
Benefits Outsourcing, HR BPO, and Consulting segments in the amounts of $1.7 million, $1.8 million, and $0.2 million, respectively; $1.5 
million was recorded to shared services and was not allocated to the segments.  
   
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recorded expense of $0.4 million related to the exit and consolidation of a facility in 
Europe.  The charge consisted of a lease cancellation penalty incurred when the Company notified the landlord of its intent to terminate the lease 
agreement.  The cost was recorded in other operating expense within the consolidated statements of operations and charged to the Consulting 
segment.  
   
Fiscal 2009 activity  
   
During fiscal 2009, the Company updated estimated sublease rental assumptions initially used to determine the fair value of the liabilities 
incurred to exit certain facilities, as discussed above .   These assumptions were updated to reflect current market conditions relating to the 
commercial real estate rental market in the U.S. and Europe.  As a result, the Company recorded adjustments to increase the restructuring reserve 
by $9.0 million.  These additional costs were recorded in other operating expenses within the consolidated statements of operations and charged 
to the Benefits Outsourcing, HR BPO, and Consulting segments in the amounts of $4.2 million, $3.0 million, and $0.3 million, respectively; $1.5 
million was recorded to shared services and was not allocated to the segments.  
   
Additionally, during fiscal 2009, the Company recorded expense of $7.7 million related to the exit and consolidation of facilities in both the U.S. 
and international locations.  The charge consisted of $4.8 million for the recognition of the fair values of lease vacancy obligations and $3.2 
million of lease cancellation penalties incurred when the Company notified the landlords of its intent to terminate the lease agreements.  This 
was offset by the reversal of accrued rent of $0.3 million.  The cost was recorded in other operating expense within the consolidated statements 
of operations and charged to the Consulting, Benefits Outsourcing, and HR BPO segments in the amounts of $4.2 million, $3.0 million, and $0.6 
million, respectively; less than $0.1 million was recorded to shared services and was not allocated to the segments.  
   
Pre-fiscal 2009 activity  
   
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 and throughout fiscal 2008, the Company recorded expense of $58.5 million related to the exit and 
consolidation of certain facilities in both the U.S. and international locations. The charges consisted of $65.5 million for the recognition of the 
fair value of lease vacancy obligations and lease termination charges and the reversal of $0.4 million of prepaid rent.  This was offset by the 
reversal of accrued rent of $7.4 million. The net costs were recorded in other operating expenses within the consolidated statements of operations 
and charged to the Benefits Outsourcing, HR BPO, and Consulting segments in the amounts of $28.0 million, $15.4 million, and $5.5 million, 
respectively; $9.6 million was recorded to shared services and was not allocated to the segments.  
   
Adjustments also include the accretion of fair values and the effect of foreign currency translation during the years ended September 30, 2010 
and 2009.  
   
The Company anticipates that the remaining accrual will be paid out by fiscal 2018 based on the longest term remaining on the Company’s 
leased real estate.  
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17.        Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income  
   
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income consists of the following components (in thousands):  
   

   

(1)           During 2009, the Company reclassified $14.9 million ($14.9 million net of tax) of currency translation adjustment to earnings related 
to the sale of its Latin America HR BPO business.  Refer to Note 4 for more information on divestitures.  

(2)           During 2009, the Company reclassified $2.3 million ($1.5 million net of tax) of unrealized loss to earnings related to its ARS 
portfolio.  Refer to Note 7 for more information on ARS.  

   
18.        Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans  
   
Employee 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan  
   
The Company has a qualified 401(k) and profit sharing plan for its eligible employees.  Under the plan, Hewitt makes annual contributions equal 
to a percentage of participants’ total cash compensation and may make additional contributions in accordance with the terms of the plan.  
Additionally, employees may make contributions in accordance with the terms of the plan, with a portion of those contributions matched by the 
Company.  In 2010, 2009, and 2008, profit sharing plan and company match contribution expenses were $61.6 million, $58.8 million, and $60.2 
million, respectively.  
   
Defined Benefit Plans  
   
Through various acquisitions, the Company has defined benefit pension plans, the largest of which was closed to new entrants in 1998, providing 
retirement benefits to eligible employees.  The Company also has other smaller defined benefit pension plans to provide benefits to eligible 
employees.  It is the Company’s policy to fund these defined benefit plans in accordance with local practice and legislation.  
   
Health Care Plans  
   
The Company provides health benefits for retired U.S. and Canadian employees and certain dependents when those employees become eligible 
for these benefits by satisfying plan provisions, which include certain age and service requirements.  The health benefit plans are contributory, 
and contributions are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate.  These plans contain other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and 
coinsurance.  The Company does not prefund these plans and has the right to modify or terminate any of these plans in the future.  
   
The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the defined benefit and health care plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of 
assets for the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, and a statement of funded status as of September 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):  
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Foreign  
Currency  

Translation  
Adjustments(1)  

   

Unrealized  
Gains (Losses) on  
Investments (2)  

   
Retirement  

Plans  
   

Net Unrealized  
Gains (Losses)  

on Hedging  
Transactions  

   

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive  
(Loss) Income  

   
As of September 30, 2007  

   $ 124,907 
   $ —

   $ (1,525 )  $ —
   $ 123,382 

   
Other comprehensive loss (net of 

tax of ($18,206), ($2,647), 
($9,520), ($3,971) and 
($34,344), respectively)  

   (42,173 )  (4,273 )  (23,834 )  (6,412 )  (76,692 )  
As of September 30, 2008  

   $ 82,734 
   $ (4,273 )  $ (25,359 )  $ (6,412 )  $ 46,690 

   
Other comprehensive loss (net of 

tax of ($15,881), $924, ($9,271), 
$2,620 and ($21,608), 
respectively)  

   (37,448 )  1,438 
   (10,732 )  4,189 

   (42,553 )  
Adjustment to apply ASC 715-30 

measurement date provision  
   —

   —
   188 

   —
   188 

   
As of September 30, 2009  

   $ 45,286 
   $ (2,835 )  $ (35,903 )  $ (2,223 )  $ 4,325 

   
Other comprehensive loss (net of 

tax of ($3,176), $857, $0, 
$2,774 and $455, respectively)  

   1,225 
   1,391 

   (15,191 )  4,597 
   (7,978 )  

As of September 30, 2010  
   $ 46,511 

   $ (1,444 )  $ (51,094 )  $ 2,374 
   $ (3,653 )  



   

   

   

(1)                This represents the impact of the change in measurement date to September 30, 2009, in accordance with ASC 715.  
(2)                Fair value of assets less projected benefit obligation, shown in the preceding tables.  
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      Pension Benefits  
   Health Benefits  

   
      2010  

   2009  
   2010  

   2009  
   

Change in Benefit Obligation  
                       

Benefit obligation, beginning of year  
   $ 247,426 

   $ 226,855 
   $ 15,770 

   $ 12,720 
   

Service cost  
   9,938 

   9,817 
   252 

   170 
   

Interest cost  
   11,586 

   11,414 
   914 

   878 
   

Actuarial losses  
   20,314 

   10,102 
   2,461 

   2,063 
   

Benefit payments  
   (5,557 )  (8,425 )  (635 )  (785 ) 

Acquisition  
   —

   2,705 
   —

   —
   

Curtailments and settlements, net  
   (33 )  83 

   —
   —

   
Plan amendments  

   —
   (648 )  —

   462 
   

Adoption of ASC 715 measurement date provision(1)  
   —

   5,535 
   —

   262 
   

Participant contributions  
   1,313 

   1,540 
   —

   —
   

Changes in foreign exchange rates  
   (801 )  (11,552 )  157 

   —
   

Benefit obligation, end of year  
   $ 284,186 

   $ 247,426 
   $ 18,919 

   $ 15,770 
   

                          
Change in Plan Assets  

                       
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year  

   $ 209,640 
   $ 182,382 

   $ —
   $ —

   
Actual return on plan assets  

   17,803 
   3,896 

   —
   —

   
Company contributions  

   24,452 
   35,214 

   635 
   785 

   
Participant contributions  

   1,313 
   1,540 

   —
   —

   
Benefit payments  

   (5,557 )  (8,425 )  (635 )  (785 ) 
Adoption of ASC 715 measurement date provision(1)  

   —
   2,849 

   —
   —

   
Changes in foreign exchange rates  

   (732 )  (7,816 )  —
   —

   
Fair value of plan assets, end of year  

   $ 246,919 
   $ 209,640 

   $ —
   $ —

   

      Pension Benefits  
   Health Benefits  

   
      2010  

   2009  
   2010  

   2009  
   

Reconciliation of Accrued Obligation and Total Amount 
Recognized  

                       
Unfunded status (2)  

   $ (37,267 )  $ (37,786 )  $ (18,919 )  $ (15,770 ) 
Net amount recognized, end of year  

   $ (37,267 )  $ (37,786 )  $ (18,919 )  $ (15,770 ) 
                          
Amounts Recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive 

Income, Pretax:  
                       

Prior service cost  
   $ (128 )  $ (139 )  $ 435 

   $ 479 
   

Net actuarial loss  
   62,319 

   49,412 
   7,319 

   5,002 
   

Transition obligation  
   —

   —
   1 

   1 
   

Total  
   $ 62,191 

   $ 49,273 
   $ 7,755 

   $ 5,482 
   



   
The amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of (in thousands):  
   

   
Relating to the pension plans, the estimated net loss, service cost, and transition obligation that will be amortized from shareholders’ equity into 
pension cost in fiscal 2011 are $2.4 million, zero, and zero, respectively.  Related amounts amortized in fiscal 2010, respectively, were $1.5 
million, zero, and zero.  
   
Relating to the health benefit plans, the estimated net loss, prior service cost and transition obligation that will be amortized from shareholders’ 
equity into pension cost in fiscal 2011 are $0.3 million, zero, and zero, respectively.  Related amounts amortized in fiscal 2010, respectively, 
were $0.2 million, zero, and zero.  
   
The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plans was $262.3 million and $225.4 million as of September 30, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.  
   
The assumptions used in the measurement of the benefit obligations at September 30, 2010 and 2009, are as follows:  
   

   
The assumptions used in the measurement of the net benefit costs for the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008 are as follows:  
   

   
The expected long-term rate of return assumption was developed using a building block approach based on key inputs regarding capital market 
assumptions (e.g., underlying inflation assumption, expected real returns on various asset classes) and portfolio mix of plan assets. The 
assumption is calculated as the weighted-average long-term return of the portfolio based on the return assumption for each asset class and 
corresponding portfolio weighting.  
   
The health plans provide flat dollar credits based on years of service and age at retirement.  Service for determining credits was frozen as of 
December 31, 2005.  There is a small group of grandfathered retirees who receive postretirement medical coverage at a percentage of cost.  The 
liabilities for these retirees are valued assuming an 8.35% health care cost trend rate for 2010.  The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 
5.0% in 2020 and remain at that level thereafter.  
   
The effect of a one percentage point increase or decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rates is not material to total service and interest 
costs and the postretirement benefit obligation.  
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      Pension Benefits  
   Health Benefits  

   
      2010  

   2009  
   2010  

   2009  
   

Other non-current assets, net  
   $ 687 

   $ 930 
   $ —

   $ —
   

Accrued expenses  
   (504 )  (398 )  (678 )  (719 ) 

Other non-current liabilities  
   (37,450 )  (38,318 )  (18,241 )  (15,051 ) 

Net amount recognized  
   $ (37,267 )  $ (37,786 )  $ (18,919 )  $ (15,770 ) 

      Pension Benefits  
   Health Benefits  

   
      2010  

   2009  
   2010  

   2009  
   

Weighted-average assumptions:  
                       

Discount rate  
   4.25 %  4.88 %  5.27 %  5.90 % 

Rate of compensation increase  
   3.10 %  3.28 %  N/A 

   N/A 
   

      Pension Benefits  
   Health Benefits  

   
      2010  

   2009  
   2008  

   2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Weighted-average assumptions:  
                                 

Discount rate  
   4.88 %  5.71 %  5.35 %  5.90 %  7.10 %  6.40 % 

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets  
   5.65 %  6.09 %  6.20 %  N/A 

   N/A 
   N/A 

   
Rate of compensation increase  

   3.28 %  4.57 %  4.13 %  N/A 
   N/A 

   N/A 
   



   
The Company’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at September 30, 2010, and 2009, by asset category were as follows:  
   

   
The investment objectives for the pension plan assets are to generate returns that will enable the plans to meet their future obligations.  The 
strategies balance the requirement to generate returns through investments such as equity securities, with the need to control risk through less 
volatile assets such as fixed income securities, while also meeting local regulations. Approximately 90% of the Company’s plan assets relate to 
the Company’s pension plans in the United Kingdom and Switzerland.  In the United Kingdom, the plan assets are managed in two separate 
portfolios, an equity portfolio and a bond portfolio.  The strategy is to invest 56% and 44% of the plan assets in equity securities and debt 
securities, respectively.  The total return is tracked to the relevant market index, within specified tolerances and after allowance for withholding 
tax, where applicable, for each of the funds in which the assets are invested.  The plan assets for the Switzerland plan are managed in accordance 
with the laws in Switzerland.  Within the scope of the Swiss laws, the strategy targets equity securities of 35%-45%, debt securities of 35%-65%, 
real estate investments of 5%-15%, and other investments of 0%-5%.  
   
The fair value of the Company’s pension plan assets at September 30, 2010, by asset category, are as follows (in thousands):  
   

   
Refer to Note 9 for additional information on fair value measurements.  
   
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, are expected to be paid as follows (in thousands):  
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Asset Category  
   2010  

   2009  
   

Equity securities  
   39.9 %  38.2 % 

Debt securities  
   50.9 

   52.7 
   

Real estate  
   3.1 

   3.2 
   

Other  
   6.1 

   5.9 
   

Total  
   100.0 %  100.0 % 

      Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using:  
  

      Level 1  
   Level 2  

   Level 3  
   Total  

  

Cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 14,776 

   $ —
   $ —

   $ 14,776 
  

Equity securities:  
                      

Domestic Large Cap  
   21,949 

   —
   —

   21,949 
  

International Large Cap  
   66,652 

   —
   —

   66,652 
  

Emerging Markets Growth  
   2,975 

   —
   —

   2,975 
  

Other  
   —

   6,920 
   —

   6,920 
  

Debt securities:  
                      

International Government Bonds  
   96,763 

   —
   —

   96,763 
  

Corporate Bonds  
   28,828 

   —
   —

   28,828 
  

Other  
   —

   —
   —

   —
  

Real estate investment trust  
   7,680 

   —
   —

   7,680 
  

Other  
   —

   376 
   —

   376 
  

Total  
   $ 239,623 

   $ 7,296 
   $ —

   $ 246,919 
  

      
Pension  
Benefits  

   
Health  
Benefits  

   
2011  

   $ 6,361 
   $ 678 

   
2012  

   6,399 
   694 

   
2013  

   6,543 
   688 

   
2014  

   7,553 
   690 

   
2015  

   7,365 
   710 

   
Years 2016 through 2020  

   48,748 
   4,240 

   



   
The components of net periodic benefit costs for the three years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, were as follows (in thousands):  
   

   
The Company presently anticipates contributing approximately $9.0 million to fund its pension plans and $0.7 million to fund its health benefit 
plans in fiscal 2011 (applying foreign exchange rates at September 30, 2010).  The Company does not expect any plan assets to be returned to 
the Company during fiscal 2011.  
   
19.  Share-Based Compensation Plans  
   
The Company recorded pretax share-based compensation expense of $56.6 million, $54.3 million, and $48.3 million during the years ended 
September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively, related to the Company’s stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and 
performance share units.  
   
The Company recorded excess tax benefits of $20.4 million, $7.0 million, and $10.2 million during the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, 
and 2008, respectively, as cash flows from financing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.  The total compensation cost related 
to non-vested restricted stock and stock option awards not yet recognized as of September 30, 2010, was approximately $90.3 million, which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years.  
   
Under the Company’s Global Stock and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), which was adopted in fiscal 2002, amended in January 2008, 
and administered by the Compensation and Leadership Committee (the “Committee”) of the Company’s Board of Directors, employees, and 
directors may receive awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance 
share units, and cash-based awards; employees can also receive incentive stock options.  As of September 30, 2010, only restricted stock, 
restricted stock units, performance share units, and stock options have been granted.  A total of 32,000,000 shares of Class A common stock 
have been reserved for issuance under the Plan.  As of September 30, 2010, there were 5,443,498 shares available for grant under the Plan, 
which includes shares tendered to the Company by employees to satisfy their minimum tax withholding requirements related to vested awards.  
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      Pension Benefits  
   Health Benefits  

  

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   2010  

   2009  
   2008  

  

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost  
                                

Service cost  
   $ 9,938 

   $ 9,817 
   $ 12,527 

   $ 252 
   $ 170 

   $ 199 
  

Interest cost  
   11,586 

   11,414 
   11,146 

   914 
   878 

   855 
  

Expected return on plan assets  
   (12,061 )  (10,854 )  (12,002 )  —

   —
   —

  

Loss (gain) recognized in the year  
   —

   —
   (70 )  —

   —
   —

  

Curtailment expense  
   (33 )  82 

   —
   —

   —
   —

  

Amortization of:  
                                

Unrecognized prior service cost  
   (7 )  61 

   86 
   44 

   2 
   2 

  

Unrecognized loss  
   1,465 

   554 
   (27 )  245 

   106 
   172 

  

Net periodic benefit cost  
   $ 10,888 

   $ 11,074 
   $ 11,660 

   $ 1,455 
   $ 1,156 

   $ 1,228 
  



   
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units  
   
The following table summarizes restricted stock activity during 2010, 2009, and 2008:  
   

   
The following table summarizes restricted stock units activity during 2010, 2009, and 2008:  
   

   
Performance share units (“PSUs”) are intended to provide an incentive for achieving specific performance objectives over a defined period. 
PSUs represent an obligation of the Company to deliver a number of shares ranging from zero to 200% of the initial number of units granted, 
depending on performance against objective, pre-established financial metrics at the end of the performance period.   The Company believes it is 
probable that such goals will be achieved for shares which vest upon meeting certain financial performance conditions, and these goals are 
evaluated quarterly.  If such goals are not met or it is probable the goals will not be met, no compensation cost is recognized and any previously 
recognized compensation cost is reversed.  
   
During fiscal 2010, 114,998 PSUs were granted to certain Hewitt leadership which are included in the restricted stock unit information disclosed 
above.  The financial metrics for these grants are based on Hewitt’s corporate performance in fiscal 2010 and are calculated to be paid out at a 
rate of 141%.  These grants are scheduled to vest in one-third increments on September 30, 2010, 2011, and 2012.  In addition, during fiscal 
2010, 66,494 PSUs were awarded by the Company.  The financial metrics for these awards are primarily based on Hewitt’s compounded annual 
revenue growth, and these metrics are not probable of being currently met as of September 30, 2010.  During fiscal 2009, 197,200 PSUs were 
granted to certain Hewitt leadership, which are included in the restricted stock unit information disclosed above.  The financial metrics for these 
grants are based on Hewitt’s corporate performance in fiscal 2009 and are calculated to be paid out at a rate of 104%.  These grants are 
scheduled to vest in one-third increments on September 30, 2009, 2010, and 2011.  During fiscal 2008, 112,900 PSUs were granted to certain 
Hewitt leadership which are included in the restricted stock unit information disclosed above.  The financial metrics for these grants were based 
on Hewitt’s corporate performance in fiscal 2008 and are to be paid out at a rate of 195%.  These grants are scheduled to vest in one-third 
increments on September 30, 2008, 2009, and 2010.  During fiscal 2007, 137,000 PSUs were granted to certain Hewitt leadership, which are 
included in the restricted stock unit information disclosed above.  The financial metrics for these grants were based on Hewitt’s fiscal 2007 
corporate performance and are to be paid out at a rate of 180%.  The fiscal 2007 grants cliff-vested on September 30, 2010.  
   
As discussed in Note 2, all unvested awards vested on October 1, 2010 in connection with the Aon merger.  
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      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

      
Restricted  

Stock  
   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value  

   
Restricted  

Stock  
   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value  

   
Restricted  

Stock  
   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value  

   
Outstanding at beginning of fiscal year  

   —
   n/a 

   315,921 
   $ 26.94 

   1,190,808 
   $ 25.45 

   
Vested  

   —
   n/a 

   (237,583 )  $ 27.21 
   (781,989 )  $ 24.66 

   
Forfeited  

   —
   n/a 

   (78,338 )  $ 26.10 
   (92,898 )  $ 27.11 

   
Outstanding at end of fiscal year  

   —
   n/a 

   —
   n/a 

   315,921 
   $ 26.94 

   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

      
Restricted  
Stock Units  

   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value  

   
Restricted  
Stock Units  

   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value  

   
Restricted  
Stock Units  

   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value  

   
Outstanding at beginning of fiscal year  

   2,419,832 
   $ 29.42 

   2,263,986 
   $ 31.36 

   1,945,014 
   $ 25.72 

   
Granted  

   1,645,747 
   $ 41.17 

   2,109,868 
   $ 27.24 

   1,623,680 
   $ 36.75 

   
Vested  

   (1,492,617 )  $ 32.31 
   (1,599,075 )  $ 29.12 

   (971,149 )  $ 29.84 
   

Forfeited  
   (237,272 )  $ 31.91 

   (354,947 )  $ 30.15 
   (333,559 )  $ 29.14 

   
Outstanding at end of fiscal year  

   2,335,690 
   $ 35.60 

   2,419,832 
   $ 29.42 

   2,263,986 
   $ 31.36 

   



   
Stock Options  
   
The Committee may grant both incentive stock options and stock options to purchase shares of Class A common stock.  Subject to the terms and 
provisions of the Plan, options may be granted to participants, as determined by the Committee, provided that incentive stock options may not be 
granted to non-employee directors.  The option price is determined by the Committee provided that for options issued to participants in the U.S., 
the option price may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the shares on the date the option is granted, and no option may be 
exercisable later than the tenth anniversary of its grant. The stock options generally vest in equal annual installments over a period of four years.  
   
The fair value used to determine compensation expense for years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, was estimated at the date of grant 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions used to determine fair value for 
options granted during the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008:  
   

   
The Company uses the simplified method to determine the expected life assumption for all of its options.  The Company continues to use the 
simplified method as it does not believe that it has sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate 
expected life due to the limited time its equity shares have been publicly traded.  
   
The following table summarizes stock option activity during 2010, 2009 and 2008:  
   

   
The weighted-average estimated fair value of employee stock options granted during 2010, 2009, and 2008 was $14.05, $8.80, and $12.81 per 
share, respectively.  These stock options were granted at exercise prices equal to the current fair market value of the underlying stock on the 
grant date.  
   
As discussed in Note 2, all outstanding options were converted to Aon options on October 1, 2010, in connection with the Aon merger.  
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      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Expected volatility  
   29.08 %  29.30 %  26.61 % 

Risk-free interest rate  
   2.53 %  2.13 %  3.83 % 

Expected life (in years)  
   6.17 

   6.17 
   6.03 

   
Dividend yield  

   0 %  0 %  0 % 

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

      Options  
   

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price  
   Options  

   

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price  
   Options  

   

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price  
   

Outstanding at beginning of fiscal 
year  

   6,298,321 
   $ 26.04 

   6,283,927 
   $ 25.68 

   7,611,095 
   $ 24.06 

   
Granted  

   494,632 
   $ 41.40 

   1,098,790 
   $ 26.49 

   772,620 
   $ 37.53 

   
Exercised  

   (3,102,027 )  $ 24.87 
   (866,871 )  $ 23.13 

   (1,847,653 )  $ 23.61 
   

Forfeited  
   (165,272 )  $ 30.80 

   (124,710 )  $ 30.79 
   (199,426 )  $ 29.65 

   
Expired  

   (7,262 )  $ 30.95 
   (92,815 )  $ 27.90 

   (52,709 )  $ 23.69 
   

Outstanding at end of fiscal year  
   3,518,392 

   $ 28.99 
   6,298,321 

   $ 26.04 
   6,283,927 

   $ 25.68 
   

                                    
Exercisable options at end of fiscal 

year  
   2,471,116 

   $ 27.36 
   4,969,290 

   $ 25.27 
   5,271,903 

   $ 24.53 
   



   
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at September 30, 2010 (in thousands, except share and per share 
data):  
   

   
The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, based upon the average market price 
during the period, was approximately $62.6 million, $8.1 million, and $28.3 million, respectively.  
   
20.  Income Taxes  
   
For the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company’s provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
Tax benefits associated with the vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units and the exercise of nonqualified stock options were credited 
directly to additional paid-in capital and amounted to $30.7 million, $9.3 million, and $14.7 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  
   
The effective income tax rate for the year ended September 30, 2010, was 35.2% as compared to 35.3% in fiscal 2009.  The current year’s 
effective rate was impacted by a number of significant offsetting discrete items including (i) the settlement of certain federal, state, and foreign 
tax audits and lapse of statute of limitations; (ii) a decrease in tax reserves and related interest; (iii) the tax impact of certain foreign entity status 
changes, and (iv) the related deferred tax impact for those foreign entity status changes.  
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      Outstanding Options  
   Exercisable Options  

   

      
Number  

Outstanding  
   

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price  
   

Aggregate  
Intrinsic  

Value  
   

Weighted-  
Average  

Term  
(Years)  

   
Number  

Outstanding  
   

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price  
   

Aggregate  
Intrinsic  

Value  
   

Summary price range 
groupings  

                                      
$19.00  

   224,874 
   $ 19.00 

   $ 7,068 
   1.7 

   224,874 
   $ 19.00 

   $ 7,068 
   

$19.01-$25.00  
   694,453 

   $ 23.47 
   18,721 

   4.3 
   634,677 

   $ 23.54 
   17,069 

   
$25.01-$30.00  

   1,630,288 
   $ 26.57 

   38,902 
   6.6 

   1,140,693 
   $ 26.61 

   27,166 
   

$30.01-$50.00  
   968,777 

   $ 39.34 
   10,743 

   7.6 
   470,872 

   $ 38.32 
   5,700 

   
      3,518,392 

   $ 28.99 
   $ 75,434 

   6.1 
   2,471,116 

   $ 27.36 
   $ 57,003 

   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

      Current  
   Deferred  

   Total  
   Current  

   Deferred  
   Total  

   Current  
   Deferred  

   Total  
   

U.S. Federal  
   $ 88,704 

   $ 8,613 
   $ 97,317 

   $ 87,274 
   $ 33,857 

   $ 121,131 
   $ 89,592 

   $ 18,791 
   $ 108,383 

   
State and local  

   9,944 
   5,585 

   15,529 
   11,002 

   4,525 
   15,527 

   15,725 
   (2,317 )  13,408 

   
Foreign  

   18,719 
   (6,014 )  12,705 

   16,501 
   (8,564 )  7,937 

   14,905 
   (8,394 )  6,511 

   
      $ 117,367 

   $ 8,184 
   $ 125,551 

   $ 114,777 
   $ 29,818 

   $ 144,595 
   $ 120,222 

   $ 8,080 
   $ 128,302 

   



   
Income tax expense for the period differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 35% to income before 
taxes as a result of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
The Company changed the tax status of its Canada, Ireland, and United Kingdom entities from foreign branches to controlled foreign 
corporations.  The resulting change in tax status of foreign entities increased income tax expense by a net amount of $10.7 million for the year 
ended September 30, 2010.  
   
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented 
below (in thousands):  
   

   
The domestic federal net operating loss carryforward of $49.3 million resulted from or relate to the acquisitions of RealLife HR, Senior 
Educators, and EnnisKnupp and expires from fiscal 2024 - 2027.  All of the domestic net operating losses are expected to be utilized on or before 
fiscal 2027.  
   
At September 30, 2010, certain foreign affiliates of the Company have available foreign net operating losses of $193.7 million, of which $101.6 
million have already provided a U.S. tax benefit.  The remaining net operating loss carryforward of $92.1 million includes $19 million, which 
expire at various dates between fiscal years 2010 and 2022, and the remainder has an indefinite carryforward period.  There is a valuation 
allowance of $186.7 million recorded against the $193.7 million of foreign local country net operating loss carryforwards and other net deferred 
tax  
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      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Provision for taxes at U.S. federal statutory rate  
   $ 125,002 

   $ 143,402 
   $ 110,755 

   
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:  

                  
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefits  

   10,092 
   13,491 

   8,718 
   

Tax impact on foreign subsidiaries  
   16,419 

   8,133 
   14,248 

   
Increase (decrease) in reserves and related interest  

   (19,722 )  (11,117 )  6,201 
   

Non-deductible expenses (non-taxable income)  
   (863 )  (4,932 )  1,768 

   
India tax holiday  

   (6,300 )  (4,600 )  (7,700 ) 
Foreign entity status change  

   63,741 
   —

   —
   

Deferred tax liabilities released due to foreign entity status change  
   (53,034 )  —

   —
   

Foreign tax credit benefit  
   (8,112 )  —

   —
   

Goodwill impairment at U.S. federal statutory rate  
   —

   —
   (122 ) 

Change in deferred tax assets related to foreign entities  
   —

   —
   (5,566 ) 

Other  
   (1,672 )  218 

   —
   

      $ 125,551 
   $ 144,595 

   $ 128,302 
   

      2010  
   2009  

   
Deferred tax assets:  

             
Deferred contract revenues  

   $ 54,002 
   $ 70,947 

   
Accrued expenses  

   18,751 
   26,625 

   
Foreign tax loss carryforwards  

   53,756 
   53,801 

   
Foreign accrued expenses  

   4,924 
   4,867 

   
Compensation and benefits  

   38,827 
   73,976 

   
Domestic tax loss carryforwards  

   21,689 
   10,623 

   
Other  

   13,831 
   7,240 

   
      205,780 

   248,079 
   

Valuation allowance  
   (59,695 )  (56,709 )  

      $ 146,085 
   $ 191,370 

   
                
Deferred tax liabilities:  

             
Deferred contract costs  

   $ 95,091 
   $ 104,455 

   
Depreciation and amortization  

   39,964 
   18,433 

   
Goodwill and intangible amortization  

   37,702 
   108,690 

   
Currency translation adjustment  

   2,676 
   9,696 

   
      $ 175,433 

   $ 241,274 
   



   
attributes of these entities.  The valuation allowance primarily represents loss carryforwards and deductible temporary differences for which 
utilization is uncertain given the lack of sustained profitability of foreign entities and/or limited carryforward periods or other restrictive 
rules regarding their utilization.  
   
The Company has a tax holiday in India through March 31, 2011.  The tax benefit of the tax holiday related to the current fiscal year income is 
approximately $6.3 million or $0.07 per diluted share.  The law which provided for the tax holiday expires on March 31, 2011, and the Company 
does not expect the law will be modified or extended to provide for similar benefits in future periods.  
   
U.S. income taxes have not been provided on undistributed earnings of international subsidiaries that are not treated as flow-through entities.  
These earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested.  Upon distribution of these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the 
Company may be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to the various 
foreign countries. Such amount is not practical to estimate.  
   
Income tax-related interest expense and income tax-related penalties are reported as a component of the provision for income taxes in the 
consolidated statement of operations.  The Company included a charge (credit) for interest and penalties of ($11.8 million), ($0.9 million) and 
$1.5 million for the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008 respectively, in the provision for income taxes in the consolidated 
statement of operations.  The recoveries represent refunds received in connection with tax settlements.  As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, the 
total amount of accrued income tax-related interest and penalties included in the consolidated balance sheets was $1.2 million and $13.0 million, 
respectively.  
   
The U.S. federal tax examination for the tax years ending September 30, 2003 through September 30, 2008, have been completed, but the 
statutes of limitations for tax years 2003, 2004, 2007, and 2008 have not yet expired.  The Company is also subject to examination in a number 
of state and foreign jurisdictions for tax years ending after September 30, 2002, for which no individually material unrecognized tax benefits 
exist.  During the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company settled an appeal with the IRS for the tax years ended September 30, 2003 and 
September 30, 2004.  As a result of this settlement, all federal tax issues relating to these tax years have been resolved.  The IRS has recently 
opened their examination of tax years ended September 30, 2009 and September 30, 2010.  The Company believes appropriate provisions for all 
outstanding income tax matters have been made for all jurisdictions and all open years.  
   
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:  
   

   
As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $25.0 million and $49.4 million, respectively.  If tax 
matters for the 2007, 2008, and 2009 tax years are effectively settled with the relevant federal, state, and foreign jurisdictions within the next 12 
months, that settlement could increase earnings by zero to $5.9 million based on current estimates.  Audit outcomes and the timing of audit 
settlements are subject to significant uncertainty.  
   
During the second quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company reclassified amounts between current taxes payable (included in accrued expenses) and 
current deferred income taxes in the consolidated balance sheets related to performance-based compensation as a result of recently issued IRS 
guidance.  There was no impact to the Company’s effective income tax rate or net income as a result of this balance sheet reclassification.  
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      2010  
   2009  

   
Unrecognized tax benefits — beginning of period  

   $ 49,413 
   $ 63,581 

   
Gross decreases — tax positions in prior periods  

   —
   (6,424 ) 

Gross increases — current period tax positions  
   17,816 

   1,033 
   

Lapse of statute of limitations  
   (42,264 )  (8,777 ) 

Unrecognized tax benefits — end of period  
   $ 24,965 

   $ 49,413 
   



   
21.   Commitments and Contingencies  
   
Legal Proceedings  
   
The Company is involved in disputes arising in the ordinary course of its business relating to outsourcing and consulting agreements, 
professional liability claims, vendors and service providers and employment claims. The Company is also routinely audited and subject to 
inquiries by governmental and regulatory agencies. Management considers such factors as the probability of an unfavorable outcome and the 
ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss and records a provision with respect to a claim, suit, investigation or proceeding 
when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can reasonably be estimated. If the reasonable estimate of a 
probable loss is a range of outcomes, and no amount within the range is a better estimate than another, the minimum amount in the range is 
accrued. If a loss is not probable or a probable loss cannot be reasonably estimated, no liability is recorded.  Insurance and other recoveries of 
losses are separately evaluated and recognized only if such recoveries are also probable and reasonably estimable.  
   
The Company does not believe that any unresolved dispute will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operation. 
However, litigation in general and the outcome of any matter, in particular, cannot be predicted with certainty. An unfavorable resolution of one 
or more pending matters could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations for one or more reporting periods.  
   
In the normal course of business, the Company also enters into contracts in which it makes representations, warranties, guarantees, and 
indemnities that relate to the performance of the Company’s services and products. The Company does not expect any material losses related to 
such representations, warranties, guarantees, and indemnities.  
   
22.   Supplemental Cash Flow Information  
   

   
23.   Segments and Geographic Data  
   
The Company has three reportable segments — Benefits Outsourcing, HR BPO, and Consulting.  
   
The Company operates many of the administrative and support functions of its business through the use of centralized shared service operations 
to provide an economical and effective means of supporting the operating segments.  These shared services include human resources, 
information technology services, management, corporate relations, finance, general counsel, real estate management, supplier management, and 
other supporting services.  Many of these costs, such as information technology services, real estate management and other support services, are 
assigned to the business segments based on usage and consumption factors.  Certain costs within human resources, finance, general counsel, 
management, client and market leadership and corporate relations, are not allocated to the business segments and remain in unallocated shared 
service costs.  
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      Year Ended September 30,  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Supplementary disclosure of cash paid during the year (in thousands):  
                  

Interest paid  
   $ 51,728 

   $ 41,708 
   $ 20,730 

   
Income taxes paid  

   67,550 
   127,592 

   136,347 
   

                     
Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities (in thousands):  

                  
Acquisitions, cash paid, net of cash acquired:  

                  
Transaction costs  

   $ —
   $ —

   $ 625 
   

Fair value of assets acquired  
   (48,584 )  (17,883 )  (79,409 ) 

Fair value of liabilities assumed  
   12,457 

   13,155 
   28,482 

   
Goodwill  

   (24,188 )  (57,036 )  (83,779 ) 
Cash paid, net of cash acquired  

   (60,315 )  (61,764 )  (134,081 ) 
Capital leases  

   —
   5,994 

   13,278 
   



   
The following table summarizes the Company’s reportable segment results (in thousands):  
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      Year Ended September 30,  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Benefits Outsourcing  
                  

Segment net revenues  
   $ 1,556,068 

   $ 1,549,991 
   $ 1,550,110 

   
Segment income  

   363,576 
   387,168 

   365,336 
   

Net client receivables and unbilled work in process  
   236,511 

   211,425 
        

Goodwill and intangible assets  
   145,330 

   130,365 
        

Short-term deferred contract costs, net  
   51,788 

   43,430 
        

Deferred contract costs, net, less current portion  
   147,305 

   146,768 
        

                     
HR BPO  

                  
Segment net revenues  

   $ 450,211 
   $ 479,724 

   $ 554,854 
   

Segment income (loss)  
   15,857 

   (5,223 )  (83,277 ) 
Net client receivables and unbilled work in process  

   69,469 
   59,833 

        
Goodwill and intangible assets  

   60,043 
   68,126 

        
Short-term deferred contract costs, net  

   40,745 
   46,006 

        
Deferred contract costs, net, less current portion  

   87,475 
   106,698 

        
                     
Consulting  

                  
Segment net revenues  

   $ 1,066,178 
   $ 1,011,781 

   $ 1,094,323 
   

Segment income  
   139,530 

   143,769 
   143,217 

   
Net client receivables and unbilled work in process  

   285,023 
   256,014 

        
Goodwill and intangible assets  

   391,814 
   405,733 

        
Short-term deferred contract costs, net  

   472 
   483 

        
Deferred contract costs, net, less current portion  

   1,327 
   1,439 

        
                     
Total Company  

                  
Segment net revenues  

   $ 3,072,457 
   $ 3,041,496 

   $ 3,199,287 
   

Intersegment revenues  
   (31,798 )  (37,730 )  (47,898 ) 

Net revenues  
   3,040,659 

   3,003,766 
   3,151,389 

   
Reimbursements  

   73,773 
   69,794 

   76,259 
   

Total revenues  
   $ 3,114,432 

   $ 3,073,560 
   $ 3,227,648 

   
                     
Segment income  

   $ 518,963 
   $ 525,714 

   $ 425,276 
   

                     
Charges not recorded at the segment level:  

                  
Unallocated shared service costs  

   101,031 
   91,565 

   112,432 
   

Operating income  
   $ 417,932 

   $ 434,149 
   $ 312,844 

   
                     
Net client receivables and unbilled work in process  

   $ 591,003 
   $ 527,272 

        
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net  

   597,187 
   604,224 

        
Short-term deferred contract costs, net  

   93,005 
   89,919 

        
Deferred contract costs, less current portion  

   236,107 
   254,905 

        
Assets not reported by segment  

   1,346,355 
   1,448,320 

        
Total assets  

   $ 2,863,657 
   $ 2,924,640 

        



   
Revenues and long-lived assets by geographic area for the following fiscal years are provided below (amounts in thousands).  Revenues are 
attributed to geographic areas based on the country where the associates perform the services.  Long-lived assets include net property and 
equipment, long-term deferred contract costs, goodwill and intangible assets, long-term investments, and all other non-current assets except for 
investments in affiliated companies.  
   

   
24.   Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  
   
The following tables set forth the historical unaudited quarterly financial data for the periods indicated. The information for each of these periods 
has been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and, in the Company’s opinion, reflects all adjustments 
necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial results. Operating results for previous periods do not necessarily indicate results that may be 
achieved in any future period. Amounts are in thousands, except earnings per share information.  
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      Year Ended September 30,  
   

      2010  
   2009  

   2008  
   

Revenues  
                  

United States  
   $ 2,329,680 

   $ 2,383,195 
   $ 2,398,335 

   
United Kingdom  

   330,749 
   321,338 

   389,070 
   

All Other Countries  
   454,003 

   369,027 
   440,243 

   
Total  

   $ 3,114,432 
   $ 3,073,560 

   $ 3,227,648 
   

                     
Long-Lived Assets  

                  
United States  

   $ 824,664 
   $ 850,819 

        
United Kingdom  

   293,519 
   343,269 

        
All Other Countries  

   184,819 
   132,294 

        
Total  

   $ 1,303,002 
   $ 1,326,382 

        

      
First  

Quarter  
   

Second  
Quarter  

   
Third  

Quarter  
   

Fourth  
Quarter  

   
Fiscal 2010:  

                       
Revenues:  

                       
Net revenues  

   $ 770,145 
   $ 760,465 

   $ 730,576 
   $ 779,473 

   
Reimbursements  

   25,390 
   15,471 

   16,019 
   16,893 

   
Total revenues  

   $ 795,535 
   $ 775,936 

   $ 746,595 
   $ 796,366 

   
Operating income  

   $ 124,871 
   $ 103,384 

   $ 79,231 
   $ 110,446 

   
Net income  

   $ 68,400 
   $ 57,402 

   $ 77,942 
   $ 27,856 

   
Earnings per share:  

                       
Basic  

   $ 0.73 
   $ 0.61 

   $ 0.84 
   $ 0.30 

   
Diluted  

   $ 0.71 
   $ 0.60 

   $ 0.82 
   $ 0.29 

   
                          

Fiscal 2009:  
                       

Revenues:  
                       

Net revenues  
   $ 770,763 

   $ 746,252 
   $ 729,009 

   $ 757,742 
   

Reimbursements  
   23,209 

   15,580 
   14,710 

   16,295 
   

Total revenues  
   $ 793,972 

   $ 761,832 
   $ 743,719 

   $ 774,037 
   

Operating income  
   $ 112,357 

   $ 106,906 
   $ 109,057 

   $ 105,829 
   

Net income  
   $ 64,766 

   $ 67,539 
   $ 68,397 

   $ 64,424 
   

Earnings per share:  
                       

Basic  
   $ 0.69 

   $ 0.72 
   $ 0.73 

   $ 0.70 
   

Diluted  
   $ 0.68 

   $ 0.71 
   $ 0.71 

   $ 0.68 
   



   
25.   Regulated Subsidiary  
   
Hewitt Financial Services LLC (“HFS”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is a registered U.S. broker-dealer.  HFS is subject to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s minimum net capital rule (Rule 15c3-1), which requires that HFS maintain net capital (as defined) equal 
to the greater of $50 thousand or 6 2/3 percent of aggregate indebtedness, (as defined).  As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, HFS was in 
compliance with its net capital requirements.  
   
26.   Related-Party Transactions  
   
During fiscal 2009 and 2008, the Company paid to Hexaware Technologies Limited (“Hexaware”) approximately $8.8 million and $12.7 
million, respectively, for certain computer programming services.  Liberata Limited (“Liberata”) paid approximately $1.1 million and $1.4 
million to the Company for consulting services during fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Gavilon Holdings LLC (“Gavilon”) paid 
approximately $0.9 million and $0.3 million to the Company for consulting services during fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
   
General Atlantic LLC (“General Atlantic”), a beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Company’s stock in fiscal 2009 and 2008, beneficially 
owned approximately 14.7% of Hexaware, approximately 98% of Liberata and approximately 21% of Gavilon at September 30, 2009.  The 
Company believes fees for such services were at prevailing market rates. The agreement pursuant to which services were provided to Hexaware 
was renewed for fiscal 2009 after a competitive bidding process.  The Company continued providing consulting services to Liberata and Gavilon 
on similar terms in fiscal 2009.  Steven A. Denning, a former Company director (who retired from the Board of Directors in February 2009) and 
the Chairman and Managing Director of General Atlantic, did not participate in any decision relating to these services, none of which were 
material to the Company or General Atlantic.  
   
The Company owns a 33.3% interest in a retirement and financial management consulting joint venture in Mauritius in which Yvan Legris, the 
President of the Company’s Consulting segment, owns a 33.3% interest and is also a director.  The joint venture was originally formed in 1997 
by Mr. Legris, Bacon & Woodrow and an unaffiliated third party who is the managing director and owner of the remaining 33.3% interest in the 
joint venture.  The Company acquired its interest in 2002 with the acquisition of the benefits consulting business of Bacon & Woodrow.  The 
Company has instituted policies to insulate Mr. Legris from the day-to-day management of the joint venture.  In both fiscal 2010 and 2009, 
revenues and after-tax profits for the joint venture were less than $1.0 million, and no dividends were paid by the joint venture to its members.  
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Exhibit 99.2 
   

AON CORPORATION AND HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.  
   

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  
   

STATEMENT OF INCOME  
   

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of income for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 combines the historical 
consolidated statements of income of Aon Corporation (“Aon”) and Hewitt Associates, Inc. (“Hewitt” and, together with Aon, the “combined 
company”) giving effect to the merger of Aon and Hewitt, as if it had occurred on January 1, 2010.  Hewitt’s historical statement of income 
reflects the nine-month period ended September 30, 2010 as its results for the three-month period ended December 31, 2010 have been 
consolidated in Aon’s results for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2010.  

   
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting under 

existing United States generally accepted accounting principles.  The historical consolidated financial information has been adjusted in the 
unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of income to give effect to pro forma events and adjustments that are (1) directly 
attributable to the merger, (2) factually supportable and (3) are expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results.  The unaudited pro 
forma condensed combined statement of income was based on and should be read in conjunction with:  

   
•                   the separate historical financial statements of Aon as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010 and the related notes included in 

Aon’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010; and  
   
•                   the separate historical financial statements of Hewitt as of and for the year ended September 30, 2010 and the related notes filed on 

Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 24, 2011.  
   
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of income has been presented for informational purposes only. The unaudited pro 

forma condensed combined statement of income is not necessarily indicative of what the combined company’s results of operations actually 
would have been had the merger been completed as of the date indicated.  In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of 
income does not purport to project the future operating results of the combined company. There were no material transactions between Aon and 
Hewitt during the periods presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of income that would need to be eliminated.  The 
unaudited pro forma consolidated results reflect primarily the following pro forma pre-tax adjustments:  

   
• Elimination of Hewitt’s historical intangible asset amortization expense (approximately $16 million);  
   
• Additional amortization expense (approximately $218 million) related to the fair value of intangible assets acquired;  
   
• Additional interest expense (approximately $44 million) associated with the incremental debt issued by the Company to partially finance 
the acquisition, the early retirement of Hewitt debt, and costs related to a bridge term loan credit agreement with certain financial institutions 
that has been terminated;  
   
• Deferred revenues where no future performance obligation existed were eliminated at the acquisition date, and, as such, the recognition of 
deferred revenues by Hewitt in 2010 is not reflected in the unaudited pro forma operating results. This resulted in $21 million of deferred 
revenues recorded by Hewitt being eliminated;  
   
• Deferred costs which did meet the definition of an asset were eliminated at the acquisition date, and, as such, the recognition of deferred 
costs by Hewitt in 2010 is not reflected in the unaudited pro forma operating results. This resulted in $16 million of deferred costs recorded 
by Hewitt being eliminated;  

   

 



   
• Additional expense of $15 million incurred in 2010 related to the recognition of the fair value of adjustments associated with the 
assumption of unfavorable lease obligations;  
   
• The elimination of Hewitt’s equity based compensation expense of $46 million in 2010. On the date the merger closed, all outstanding 
equity awards of Hewitt became fully vested and were converted at the effective time in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement. 
No compensation expense has been included in the unaudited pro forma consolidated results as the compensation programs for Aon Hewitt 
employees were not determined until 2011; and  
   
• Elimination of approximately $49 million of costs incurred in 2010, which are directly attributable to the acquisition, and which do not 
have a continuing impact on the combined company’s operating results. Included in these costs are advisory, legal and regulatory costs, 
costs related to integrating the combined company, and costs to retire certain debt obligations assumed in the acquisition.  
   
In addition, all of the above adjustments were adjusted for the applicable tax impact. Aon has assumed a 38% combined statutory federal 

and state tax rate when estimating the tax effects of the adjustments to the unaudited pro forma combined statements of income.  
   

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  
   

STATEMENT OF INCOME  
   

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010  
   

   

(millions, except per share data)  
   Aon  

   Hewitt  
   

Pro Forma  
Adjustments  

   
Pro Forma  
Combined  

   
Revenue  

                       
Commissions, fees and other  

   $ 8,457 
   $ 2,319 

   —
   $ 10,776 

   
Fiduciary investment income  

   55 
   —

   —
   55 

   
Total revenue  

   8,512 
   2,319 

   —
   10,831 

   
Expenses  

                       
Compensation and benefits  

   5,097 
   1,422 

   (46 )  6,473 
   

Other general expenses  
   2,189 

   604 
   134 

   2,926 
   

Total operating expenses  
   7,286 

   2,026 
   87 

   9,399 
   

Operating Income  
   1,226 

   293 
   (87 )  1,432 

   
Interest income  

   15 
   6 

        21 
   

Interest expense  
   (182 )  (43 )  (46 )  (270 ) 

Other income (expense)  
   —

   (12 )  7 
   (5 ) 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes  
   1,059 

   244 
   (126 )  1,177 

   
Income taxes  

   300 
   81 

   (48 )  333 
   

Income from continuing operations  
   759 

   163 
   (78 )  844 

   
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests  

   26 
   —

   —
   26 

   
Net income from continuing operations attributable to Aon 

stockholders  
   $ 733 

   $ 163 
   $ (78 )  $ 818 

   
Basic net income per share from continuing operations 

attributable to Aon stockholders  
   $ 2.50 

             $ 2.41 
   

Diluted net income per share from continuing operations 
attributable to Aon stockholders  

   $ 2.46 
             $ 2.38 

   
Cash dividends per share paid on common stock  

   $ 0.60 
             $ 0.60 

   
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic  

   293.4 
        45.7 

   339.1 
   

Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted  
   298.1 

        45.8 
   343.9 

   


